

DECISION

Fair Work Act 2009 s.185 - Application for approval of a multi-enterprise agreement

Aurizon Network Pty Ltd T/A Aurizon Network Pty Ltd (AG2023/2358)

AURIZON INFRASTRUCTURE ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2023

Rail industry

DEPUTY PRESIDENT ROBERTS

SYDNEY, 28 JULY 2023

Application for approval of the Aurizon Infrastructure Enterprise Agreement 2023

- [1] An application has been made for approval of an enterprise agreement known as the *Aurizon Infrastructure Enterprise Agreement 2023* (**the Agreement**). The Application was made pursuant to s.185 of the *Fair Work Act 2009* (**the Act**). It has been made by Aurizon Network Pty Ltd (**the Applicant**).
- [2] The agreement covers and applies to two employer entities, Aurizon Network Pty Ltd and Aurizon Operations Limited. Having received submissions from those entities, I am satisfied that they are related bodies corporate as defined in the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) and therefore "related employers" within the meaning of s. 172(5A) of the Act. The proposed agreement is therefore a single enterprise agreement as described in s.172(2) of the Act. The Form F16 Application describes the agreement as a multi-enterprise agreement. This is an error. I consider it is appropriate to allow for the correction of that error and exercise the power under s.586(a) of the Act to correct the error in the application.
- [3] I am satisfied that each of the requirements of ss186, 187 and 188 as is relevant to this application for approval has been met.
- [4] I note that Clause 4.2 of the Agreement provides that this agreement will be read and interpreted in conjunction with the National Employment Standards (NES). Where there is an inconsistency between this Agreement and the NES, and the NES provides a greater benefit, the NES provision will apply to the extent of the inconsistency.
- [5] The Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, Queensland Branch (ARTBIU) and the Communications, Electrical, Electronic, Energy, Information, Postal, Plumbing and Allied Services Union of Australia (CEPU) each lodged a Form F18 statutory declaration giving notice under s.183 of the Act that they want the Agreement to cover their respective organisations. In accordance with s.201(2) of the Act, I note the Agreement covers the CEPU and the ARTBIU.

[6] The Agreement is approved and will operate in accordance with s.54 of the Act. The nominal expiry date of the Agreement is 28 July 2027.



<u>DEPUTY PRESIDENT</u>

Printed by authority of the Commonwealth Government Printer

<AE520932 PR764707>

AURIZON INFRASTRUCTURE ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2023



Table of Contents

PART 1 -	- APPLICATION AND OPERATION	4
1.0	TITLE	4
2.0	COMMENCEMENT	4
3.0	COVERAGE	4
4.0	RELATIONSHIP WITH AWARDS AND OTHER ENTERPRISE AGREEMENTS	4
5.0	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	5
6.0	CONSULTATION REGARDING MAJOR WORKPLACE CHANGE	7
7.0	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	8
PART 2 -	- EMPLOYMENT	9
8.0	TYPES OF EMPLOYMENT	9
9.0	INDIVIDUAL FLEXIBILITY AGREEMENTS	10
PART 3 -	- TERMINATION AND REDUNDANCY	10
10.0	TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	10
11.0	REDUNDANCY	11
PART 4 -	- HOURS OF WORK	13
12.0	ORDINARY HOURS OF WORK	13
13.0	ROSTERS	13
14.0	OTHER HOURS OF WORK RELATED MATTERS	18
15.0	BREAKS	19
PART 5 -	- OVERTIME AND PENALTY RATES	20
16.0	OVERTIME	20
17.0	SHIFT LOADING	21
18.0	PAYMENT OF WAGES	21
PART 6 -	- LEAVE AND PUBLIC HOLIDAYS	21
19.0	ANNUAL LEAVE	21
20.0	LONG SERVICE LEAVE	22
21.0	SHUTDOWN	23
22.0	PUBLIC HOLIDAY	24
23.0	ABORIGINAL AND TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER CULTURAL LEAVE	25
24.0	PERSONAL / CARER'S LEAVE	25
25.0	COMPASSIONATE LEAVE	26
26.0	COMMUNITY SERVICE LEAVE	26
27.0	DOMESTIC AND FAMILY VOILENCE LEAVE	27
28.0	BLOOD DONOR LEAVE	27
29.0	LEAVE WITHOUT PAY	27
30.0	MILITARY LEAVE	27
31.0	NATURAL DISASTER LEAVE	28

3	2.0	PARENTAL LEAVE	28
PAR	T7-	MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS	. 32
3	3.0	DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING	32
3	4.0	PEER TO PEER MENTAL HEALTH	32
3	5.0	EMPLOYEES TO COMPLY WITH REASONABLE DIRECTION	32
3	6.0	CREDIT FOR SERVICE	32
3	7.0	UNION MATTERS	33
3	8.0	SUPERANNUATION	33
3	9.0	RECOVERY OF OVERPAYMENT	34
4	0.0	ACCOMMODATION STANDARDS	34
PAR	T 8 –	ALLOWANCES	. 35
4	1.0	ALLOWANCES	35
4	2.0	ALL-PURPOSE ALLOWANCE	39
4	3.0	${\tt MECHANISED\ PRODUCTION-DIESEL\ TRACTION\ AND\ SHUNTING\ PAYMENT\dots}$	39
PAR	T 9 –	CLASSIFICATION AND PROGRESSION	. 39
4	4.0	CLASSIFICATION AND PROGRESSION	39
PAR	T 10 -	– WAGES SCHEDULES	. 54
4:	5.0	WAGE SCHEDULES	54

PART 1 – APPLICATION AND OPERATION

1.0 TITLE

1.1 The title of this Agreement is the Aurizon Infrastructure Enterprise Agreement 2023.

2.0 **COMMENCEMENT**

2.1 This Agreement will commence to operate on the Commencement Date. The nominal expiry date of this Agreement is the fourth anniversary of the day on which this Agreement is approved by the Fair Work Commission.

3.0 COVERAGE

- 3.1 This Agreement covers and applies to Aurizon Operations Limited, Aurizon Network Pty Ltd and any employees of those Companies working in a classification in this Agreement in Queensland:
 - a. undertaking Electrical infrastructure maintenance, construction, or renewal work; or
 - b. undertaking Civil Rail infrastructure maintenance, construction, or renewal work; or
 - c. undertaking Mechanised Production infrastructure maintenance, construction, or renewal work; or
 - d. undertaking electrical control work; or
 - e. employed in a trade or Rail Infrastructure Worker position in Aurizon Operations.
 - f. with the exception of Rail Infrastructure Inspectors, this Agreement does not cover any employee who is engaged in a position classified higher than Engineering Trades Level 3.4, Civil Infrastructure Level 3.5 where the Company has determined that a trade qualification is not a mandatory requirement of the position.

4.0 RELATIONSHIP WITH AWARDS AND OTHER ENTERPRISE AGREEMENTS

- 4.1 Other than where expressly provided for in this Agreement, this Agreement operates to the exclusion of any award or agreement which might otherwise apply to the Company and its employees covered by this Agreement.
- 4.2 This Agreement will be read and interpreted in conjunction with the National Employment Standards (NES). Where there is an inconsistency between this Agreement and the NES, and the NES provides a greater benefit, the NES provision will apply to the extent of the inconsistency.

5.0 <u>DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION</u>

5.1 Unless the context otherwise requires, in this Agreement:

Term	Meaning
Act	Means the Fair Work Act 2009.
Agreement	Means this enterprise agreement which is titled the Aurizon
	Infrastructure Enterprise Agreement 2023.
All-purpose allowance	Means an allowance set out in clause 42.0 of this
	Agreement which is stated as an "all-purpose" allowance
	and is paid for all purposes of this Agreement.
"Aurizon" or 'the company'	Means Aurizon Operations Limited or Aurizon Network Pty
	Ltd.
Average Hours	Means the ordinary hours averaged over the number of
	weeks in the employee's roster cycle.
Base rate of pay	Has the same meaning as provided in the Act.
Block Working	Rosters that include ordinary hours worked on weekends.
Civil Infrastructure	Means an employee working in the Civil Infrastructure
Employee	Business Unit in any team or unit responsible for
	maintaining, repairing, renewing, or constructing the
	permanent way and ancillary structures and does not
	include employees engaged in the maintenance of trackside
	systems.
Commencement Date	Means the date which is seven days after this Agreement is
	approved by the FWC.
Disadvantage allowance	Means an allowance paid solely to compensate an
	employee for the additional (non-financial) disadvantages of
	living away from home in order to perform their duties.
ECO	Means an employee who is engaged as an Electrical
	Control Operator.
FCC	This refers to the Aurizon Network Fault Coordination
	Centre and Staff employed in the Fault Coordination Centre.
FWC	Means the Fair Work Commission.
Household member	Means a person (e.g., an aunt, cousin or close friend) who
	lives with the employee. This usually applies to people who
	live with the employee and have a long-standing and
	significant relationship with the employee.
Immediate family	Means:
	an employee's spouse (including de facto spouse, former
	spouse or former de facto spouse or same sex partner).
	a child (including an adult child, adopted child, foster child,
	or stepchild) of an employee or an employee's spouse.
	a parent, grandparent, grandchild or sibling of an
	employee or an employee's spouse.
	In the case of compassionate leave for a bereavement only, 'immediate family' also includes an employee's step-parent,
	step-sibling or half-sibling.
Mechanised Production	Means an employee in the Mechanised Production
Employee	Business Unit who is undertaking mechanised production
Employee	infrastructure maintenance, construction, or renewal work.
Migratory Employee	An employee who regularly undertakes block working at
ivingiatory Employee	stations other than their Home Station.
NES	Means the National Employment Standards in the Act
Ordinary hours	Means the minimum number of hours an employee must
	work on average each week. Ordinary hours do not include
	overtime but may include hours where penalty rates apply.
	Tovertime but may include nours where penalty rates apply.

Primary caregiver	Means a person who assumes the principal role of providing care and attention to a child.
Pro rata	In the context of part-time employment means the
110144	proportion the part-time employee's average weekly
	ordinary hours bear to 38 ordinary hours per week.
Reasonable Overtime	As defined by the Fair Work Act 2009 Section 62.
Roster	Means an arrangement of ordinary (and where applicable
	overtime) hours to be worked by an employee over a
	specified period of time.
Roster cycle	Means the period over which the roster operates before it
	repeats the pattern of days on / days off. All employees
	have a roster cycle. For example: an employee who is
	rostered to work Monday to Friday day shift only every week
	has a roster cycle of one week. An employee who works
	nine days in each fortnight, Monday to Friday day shift only
	has a roster cycle of two weeks.
Roster – 8 day fortnight	Means ordinary hours rostered Monday to Friday.
Rostered day (s) off	 A Single RDO is a 36hr period between rostered shifts,
(RDO)	which encompasses a midnight to midnight period, which
	the Company has designated as an RDO.
	A Multiple RDO is a 36hr period followed by no less than and 34hr period between rectard shifts, which the
	one 24hr period between rostered shifts, which the
Shift Worker	 Company has designated as a multiple RDO. A shift worker is an employee who is regularly rostered to
Shiit Worker	work ordinary hours on each of the seven days a week,
	including public holidays.
	 The threshold to be applied in determining whether
	someone is regularly rostered seven days a week is that
	the employee's roster includes:
	 Ordinary hours rostered on at least 26 Sundays each
	year; and
	 Ordinary hours rostered on at least 1 public holiday
	each year.
	 Or any employee deemed a shift worker by the Company.
	Trackside Systems employee will not be deemed a shift
	worker.
Stand-alone overtime	Means overtime that is not continuous with the start or end
	of a rostered shift.
Third party tender	Means work performed by way of successful tender bid to
	another company or joint venture, consortium or alliance
	and includes work tendered for as part of a joint venture, consortium or alliance.
Trackside Systems	Means an employee in the Electrical Business Unit
Employee	consisting of engineering trades employees whose primary
Linployee	role is carrying out the duties and responsibilities of
	Construction, Maintenance and Repair of
	Telecommunications, Traction and Signalling equipment.
	This excludes ECOs & FCCs.
Union	Means the Communications, Electrical, Electronic, Energy,
	Information, Postal, Plumbing and Allied Services Union and
	Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, Queensland
	Branch.
VETA	Vocational Education and Training Act 2000.

6.0 CONSULTATION REGARDING MAJOR WORKPLACE CHANGE

The Company to notify

- 6.1 Where the Company has made a definite decision to introduce major changes in:
 - a. Production,
 - b. Program,
 - c. Organisation,
 - d. Structure,
 - e. Technology, or
 - f. The use of contactors,

That are likely to have significant effects on employees, the Company must notify the employees who may be affected by the proposed changes.

- 6.2 The potentially affected employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term.
- 6.3 If potentially affected employees appoint a representative for the purposes of consultation and an employee or employees advise the Company of the identity of the representative, the Company must recognise the representative.
- A major change is likely to have a "significant effect" if it results in termination of employment, major changes in the composition, operation or size of the Company's workforce or in the skills required; the elimination or diminution of job opportunities, promotion opportunities or job tenure; the alteration of hours of work; the need for retraining or transfer of employees to other work or locations and the restructuring of jobs. Provided that where this Agreement makes provision for alteration of any of these matters an alteration is deemed not to have significant effect.

The Company to discuss change

- 6.5 The Company must discuss with the potentially affected employees and their representatives, if any, the introduction of the changes referred to in this clause, the effects the changes are likely to have on employees, and measures to avert or mitigate the adverse effects of such changes on employees and must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised by the employees and/or their representatives in relation to the changes.
- 6.6 The discussions must commence as early as practicable after a definite decision has been made by the Company to make the changes referred to in subclause 6.1.
- 6.7 For the purposes of such discussion, the Company must provide in writing to the potentially affected employees and their representatives, if any, all relevant information about the changes including the nature of the changes proposed; the expected effects of the changes on employees and any other matters likely to affect employees provided that the Company is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information the disclosure of which would be contrary to the Company's interests.

Change to regular roster or ordinary hours of work

- 6.8 Where the Company proposes to introduce a change to the regular roster or ordinary hours of work of employees, the Company must notify the relevant employees of the proposed change.
- 6.9 The relevant employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term.
- 6.10 If relevant employees appoint a representative for the purposes of consultation and an employee or employees advise the Company of the identity of the representative, the Company must recognise the representative.
- 6.11 As soon as practicable after proposing to introduce the change, the Company must:
 - a. discuss with the relevant employees the introduction of the change; and
 - b. for the purposes of the discussion, provide to the relevant employees:
 - i. all relevant information about the change, including the nature of the change; and

- ii. Information about what the Company reasonably believes will be the effects of the change on the employees; and
- iii. information about any other matters that the Company reasonably believes are likely to affect the employees; and
- c. invite the relevant employees to give their views about the impact of the change (including any impact in relation to their family or caring responsibilities).
- 6.12 However, the Company is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information to the relevant employees.
- 6.13 The Company must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the change by the relevant employees.
- 6.14 In subclauses 6.8 to 6.13, "relevant employees" mean the employees who may be affected by a change referred to in subclause 6.8.

7.0 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

- 7.1 In the event of a dispute about a matter arising under this Agreement, or in relation to the NES the following steps will be followed:
 - a. Step 1: Discussions will be held between the employee/s concerned and the relevant supervisor. These discussions will be held within 48 hours of the dispute being raised, unless agreed otherwise. If the discussions do not resolve the dispute either party may refer it to the next step. Such a referral must be made within 48 hours following these discussions;
 - b. Step 2: Discussions will be held between the employee/s concerned and a senior level manager as appropriate. These discussions will be held within 48 hours of the dispute being referred to Step 2, unless agreed otherwise. If the discussions do not resolve the dispute either party may refer it to the next step. Such a referral must be made within 48 following these discussions;
 - c. Step 3: The employee/s or the Company may refer the dispute to the FWC. Where such an application is made, the FWC shall first attempt to resolve the dispute through conciliation. Where conciliation does not resolve the dispute, the matter may be determined by arbitration. Where the dispute is subject to arbitration the decision of the FWC is binding.
- 7.2 The timeframes in Step 1 and Step 2:
 - a. commences from the next full hour after the dispute is raised or referred;
 - b. does not include Saturdays, Sundays or Public Holidays; and
 - c. where a 48-hour period falls into a weekend, will be paused between 5pm Friday and recommence from 8am Monday; and
 - d. where a 48-hour period falls into a Public Holiday, will be paused between 5pm the day before the Public Holiday and will recommence from 8am on the next working day.
- 7.3 The Company or employee/s may appoint another person, organisation or association to accompany and/or represent them during the steps contained in this procedure.
- 7.4 Where the timeframes in this process are not met, the Company may proceed to implement the change and the dispute may only proceed to conciliation.
- 7.5 Where the timeframes have been met and:
 - a. dispute is referred to the FWC in accordance with Step 3, the Company must not implement the disputed changes until the conciliation conference has been completed; or
 - b. a dispute is referred to the FWC in accordance with Step 3 and the dispute arises from a decision of the Company which would result in the termination of employment due to redundancy, the Company will not implement the disputed changes until this step in the disputes procedure has been completed.
- 7.6 While the dispute resolution procedure is being followed work must continue in accordance with this Agreement and the Act. Subject to applicable occupational health and safety legislation, an employee must not unreasonably fail to comply with a direction by the Company to perform work that is safe and appropriate for the employee to perform.

- 7.7 In this clause:
 - a. relevant supervisor means the employee/s concerned direct supervisor or manager, unless the Company has nominated another person in writing to be the relevant supervisor for the purpose of this Agreement.
 - b. **senior level manager** means the manager or direct supervisor of the relevant supervisor (manager once removed), unless the Company has nominated another person in writing to be the senior line manager for the purpose of this Agreement.

PART 2 - EMPLOYMENT

8.0 TYPES OF EMPLOYMENT

- 8.1 An employee may be engaged on a;
 - a. full-time basis,
 - b. part-time basis,
 - c. casual basis,
 - d. temporary basis, or
 - e. an Apprenticeship or Traineeship.

Full-time employment

8.2 A full-time employee is an employee who is engaged to work an average of 38 ordinary hours per week.

Part-time employment

- 8.3 A part-time employee is an employee who:
 - a. is engaged to work an average of fewer than 38 ordinary hours per week: and
 - b. receives, on a pro rata basis, equivalent pay and conditions to those of full-time employees who do the same kind of work.
- 8.4 A part-time employee may agree to work hours more than the agreed hours. The hours worked more than the agreed hours for that part-time employee will be paid at the appropriate Overtime rate (and will not be included for the purpose of leave accruals).

Casual employment

- 8.5 A casual employee is an employee engaged and paid as such.
- 8.6 For each hour worked, a casual employee will be paid the hourly base rate of pay for their classification plus a casual loading of 25%.
- 8.7 A casual employee will be offered for their employment to be converted from casual to full time or part time employment provided:
 - a. They have been employed by the Company for a period of 12 months; and
 - b. during the last 6 months period has worked a regular pattern of hours on an ongoing basis which, without significant adjustment, could continue to work as a full time or part time employee.
- 8.8 A casual employee can request for their employment to be converted from casual to full time or part time employment provided:
 - a. They have been employed by the Company for a period of 12 months; and
 - b. during the last 6 months period has worked a regular pattern of hours on an ongoing basis which, without significant adjustment, could continue to work as a full time or part time employee.
- 8.9 Casual conversions will be managed in line with the provision of the Act

Temporary employment

- 8.10 Temporary employees are engaged by the Company for a specified period or project.
- 8.11 Temporary employees may be employed on a full-time or part-time basis.
- 8.12 Temporary employment will terminate on expiry of the specified period or on completion of the specified project (whichever is applicable).
- 8.13 Temporary employees may have their employment terminated or may terminate their employment at any time in accordance with the termination of employment provisions in this Agreement.
- 8.14 The Company is under no obligation to offer further employment upon the expiry of temporary employment.

Apprenticeship and traineeship

- 8.15 Apprentices and trainees will be engaged as part of an employment-based training scheme approved under the Vocational Education Training and Employment Act.
- 8.16 This is a fixed term engagement.

9.0 INDIVIDUAL FLEXIBILITY AGREEMENTS

- 9.1 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company and an individual employee may agree to vary certain terms of this Agreement to meet the genuine needs of the Company and the individual employee.
- 9.2 The Individual Flexibility Agreement (IFA) must:
 - a. be about matters that would be permitted matters if the arrangement was an enterprise agreement.
 - b. not include a term that would be an unlawful term if the agreement was an enterprise agreement; and
 - c. be genuinely agreed to by the Company and the employee.
- 9.3 The Company must ensure that the IFA results in the employee being better off overall than if the IFA had not been agreed.
- 9.4 The Company must ensure that the IFA is in writing and signed:
 - a. by the employee and the Company; and
 - b. if the employee is under 18 years of age, by a parent or guardian of the employee.
- 9.5 The Company will ensure that a copy of the IFA is given to the employee within 14 days of the arrangement being agreed.
- 9.6 Any IFA may be terminated:
 - a. on 28 days written notice given by the Company or the employee; or
 - b. by the employee and the Company, at any time, if they agree in writing to the termination.
- 9.7 An IFA can be reached between the Company and an individual employee in relation to any clause of this Agreement except for clauses 1.0, 2.0, 3.0, 4.0, 5.0 and this clause 9.0.

PART 3 – TERMINATION AND REDUNDANCY

10.0 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

Notice by the Company

- 10.1 The Company may provide an employee with notice of termination of employment for reasons including but not limited to unsatisfactory performance, unacceptable conduct or redundancy.
- 10.2 Notice of termination is as provided for in the NES.
- 10.3 The minimum period of notice that must be given by the Company is below:

Employee's period of continuous service with the Company at the end of the day the notice is given Period		
Not more than 1 year	1 week	
More than 1 year but not more than 3 years	2 weeks	
More than 3 years but not more than 5 years	3 weeks	
More than 5 years	4 weeks	

10.4 The period of notice will increase by one week if the employee is over 45 years old and has completed at least two years of continuous service with the Company at the end of the day the notice is given.

Notice of termination by an employee

- 10.5 Unless agreed otherwise by the Company and an employee, the notice of termination required to be given by an employee is two weeks.
- 10.6 If an employee fails to work the required or agreed notice, the Company may withhold from any monies due to the employee on termination, the wages equivalent to the notice not worked.

Job search entitlement

10.7 Where the Company has given notice of termination to an employee (for reasons other than performance or misconduct), the employee, for the purpose of seeking other employment, will be allowed up to one day off without loss of pay for ordinary hours not worked. The time off is to be taken at times that are convenient to the employee after consultation with the Company.

Payment on termination

- 10.8 Except where otherwise required by law or this Agreement. Upon termination employees will be paid
 - a. for time worked (up to the time of termination); and
 - b. any payment in lieu of notice; and
 - c. any untaken annual leave (including loading); and
 - d. any untaken long service leave.

11.0 REDUNDANCY

11.1 A redundancy occurs in a circumstance where the Company decides that it no longer requires the position that an employee has been doing to be done by anyone and there is no suitable alternative position for the employee. A redundancy is not triggered by the ordinary and customary turnover of labour.

Suitable alternative position

- 11.2 For the purpose of this clause a suitable alternative position includes, but is not limited to, the following:
 - a. a position which is suitable given the employee's skill base, competence and experience
 or is suitable after the provision of appropriate training and such training is provided by
 the Company at no cost to the employee; and
 - b. which attracts the same or no less favourable terms and conditions of employment overall and:
 - i. is a position elsewhere within the Company; or
 - ii. is a position with another related entity to the Company; or
 - iii. is a position with an unrelated entity.

Minimising / avoiding involuntary redundancy

- 11.3 The Company shall implement reasonable retraining, transfer, redeployment, and voluntary relocation, in order to minimise / avoid involuntary redundancies.
- 11.4 An employee shall not unreasonably refuse retraining, transfer and/or redeployment where these things form part of the Company's redundancy mitigation program.
- 11.5 The Company shall pay a relocation incentive payment when:
 - a. an employee's position is identified as no longer required; and
 - b. the employee is offered and accepts a position in another Aurizon location which requires the employee to relocate.

- 11.6 The relocation incentive payment will be the equivalent of the notice period the employee would have received if their employment was terminated by way of redundancy, plus five weeks. This is calculated on the employee's base rate of pay in the position that is no longer required. Other applicable relocation benefits will apply in accordance with Aurizon's Relocation Benefits Corporate Principle (as varied from time to time).
- 11.7 Where the Company decides there are redundancies in a specific class of positions, the Company must accept all volunteers for redundancy from within that class before proceeding to involuntary redundancy. Should there be a greater number of volunteers for redundancy than the Company requires, the selection of volunteers will be from that pool of volunteers and at the discretion of the Company.
- 11.8 Unless otherwise agreed by the Company and an employee, there will be a minimum period of three weeks between the Company opening expressions of interest for Voluntary Redundancy and the termination of an employee by Voluntary Redundancy.
- 11.9 Expressions of interest for Voluntary Redundancy may be sought by the Company from the commencement of consultation.

No forced relocation

- 11.10 An employee will not be forced to relocate from their home location to an alternate home location.
- 11.11 For the purposes of subclause 11.10, "relocation" occurs when the move to the new location would reasonably require the employee to change their place of residence.

Redundancy pays for existing employees

- 11.12 Employees who are employed by the Company prior to 27 May 2019 and who subsequently have their employment terminated by reason of redundancy will be paid redundancy pay calculated as follows:
 - a. For service up to and including 10 years four weeks' pay at the base rate of pay for each year of service.
 - b. For each year of service in excess of 10 years three weeks' pay at the base rate of pay for each year of service.
 - c. The maximum payment for redundancy pay is 124 weeks at the base rate of pay. The calculation of redundancy pay will not include any allowances (including the aggregate or any other all-purpose allowances) or any other payments.

Redundancy pays for new employees

- 11.13 Employees who commenced employment with the Company on or after the 27 May 2019 and who subsequently have their employment terminated by reason of redundancy will be paid redundancy pay calculated as follows:
 - a. For employees with less than one year of service nil
 - b. For employees with at least one but less than two years of service 4 weeks' pay at the base rate of pay.
 - c. For employees with two years of service or more 3 weeks' pay at the base rate of pay for each completed year of service.
 - d. The maximum payment for redundancy pay is 52 weeks at the base rate of pay.

Pro-rata service

- 11.14 An employee with:
 - a. one or more periods of part-time employment; and/or
 - b. one or more periods of leave without pay.
- 11.15 will for each such year be credited with pro rata service. The pro rata service credited to the employee will be the proportion the total ordinary hours worked by the employee during the year bears to 1976 hours (i.e. annual ordinary hours 38 hours per week x 52 weeks). The maximum redundancy payment will be similarly pro-rated.

Employee leaving during notice period

11.16 An employee given notice of termination by the Company for the reason of redundancy may reach an agreement with the Company for an earlier date of termination. In such circumstance the employee will be paid all entitlements calculated on the agreed earlier termination date.

PART 4 - HOURS OF WORK

12.0 ORDINARY HOURS OF WORK

12.1 The ordinary hours of work for full-time employees are an average of 38 hours per week.

Maximum shift length

- 12.2 Employees may be required to work shifts of up to 12 hours. The 12 hours may be constituted by:
 - a. ordinary hours; or
 - b. overtime hours; or
 - c. a combination of ordinary and overtime hours.
- 12.3 Work beyond 12 hours is subject to the agreement of the employee concerned.

Minimum shift lengths

- 12.4 Employees will not be required to work a shift of fewer than six hours unless:
 - a. the shift is a stand-alone overtime shift (in which case the minimum shift length will be in accordance with subclauses 16.8 to 16.11); or
 - b. the employee is casual or part-time (in which case the minimum shift length will be in accordance with subclauses 16.8 to 16.11); or
 - c. where the Company and the employee agree otherwise. Where such an agreement is made the employee will only be paid for the hours worked.

Weekend loading

- 12.5 In addition to the base rate of pay an employee will be paid a 50% loading for the first three ordinary hours worked on a Saturday, and 100% thereafter.
- 12.6 In addition to the base rate of pay an employee will be paid a 100% loading for ordinary hours worked on a Sunday.

13.0 ROSTERS

- 13.1 The Company will not implement a roster which cycles over more than 52 weeks unless agreed between the Company and the majority of affected employees.
- 13.2 Subject to this Agreement, the Company will determine and include in the employee's roster the following:
 - a. the shift start times; and
 - b. the length of the shift to be worked; and may also include
- 13.3 the time of taking meal break/s, Rosters may include reasonable overtime.

Provision of employee's roster

13.4 Where requested an employee will be provided with a copy (or access to a copy) of the employee's roster

Rostered breaks between successive shifts

- 13.5 Employees will be rostered, where possible, a 12-hour break between shifts. The minimum break between successive shifts is 10-hours.
- 13.6 If an employee has not had at least a 10-hour break between successive shifts the Company will release the employee until they have had a 10-hour break without loss of pay for any ordinary time occurring during such absence; or the employee will be paid overtime for hours worked until a 10-hour break is provided.

- 13.7 If an employee's next ordinary shift follows:
 - a. two consecutive RDOs; or
 - b. a public holiday, and

during the 15-hours immediately preceding such a shift the Company requires an employee to work so much overtime that the employee will not have a 10-hour break within that 15-hours, the employee will be released until they have had a 10-hour break without loss of pay for any ordinary hours during such absence.

Rostered day off (RDOs)

- 13.8 Wherever practical the Company will avoid rostering RDOs as single days.
- 13.9 The Company can advise any employee to change the day the employee takes as an RDO, either permanently or temporarily by written notification of no less than 14 days of the change unless the employee agrees to a shorter notice period. This subclause shall not apply to employees working annual shift count arrangements.
- 13.10 The employee can also seek Company approval to modify their RDO arrangements. This requires joint agreement.

Minimum number of RDOs in the roster

13.11 The minimum number of rostered days off to be included in a roster is the number of weeks over which the roster cycles multiplied by two.

Implementation of a new roster

13.12 The Company will provide employees with as much notice as practicable with a minimum of 14 days prior to any change of roster. The Company will consult with the affected employees before any new roster is implemented.

Mutual exchange of shifts

13.13 Employees may exchange rostered shifts of durations from one day to a full rostered week providing there is no extra expense to the Company and occupational health and safety is taken into consideration. Applications for mutual exchanges of rostered shifts can be submitted from up to six months in advance to after the roster is posted. Applications are to be in writing and signed by both parties.

Block Working – Migratory employee not required to work annual shift count arrangements

- 13.14 The following subclauses 13.15 to 13.20 apply to employees who are migratory employees who are not required to work annual shift count arrangements.
- 13.15 These block working provisions are subject to operational requirements such as weather events, scheduled network closures including single line closures, derailments and third-party tender requirements.
- 13.16 Migratory employees will not, unless agreed otherwise by a majority of affected employees, be rostered in each calendar fortnight away:
 - a. More than 12 ordinary hours shifts; or
 - b. Breaks between shifts of longer than 30-hours.
- 13.17 Employees who are required to work two calendar weekends away from their home location in their block roster will not be required to work more than one calendar weekend away in the next rostered block.
- 13.18 Employees will be notified prior to the end of their current roster block of changes to their next rostered block. For example, changing from an 8 on 6 off to a 10 on 4 off roster.
- 13.19 The above block working provisions will not apply wherever an employee is required to work a '3 week on, 1 week off' roster.
- 13.20 An employee will not be required to work a '3 week on, 1 week off' roster more than three times in a calendar year, unless by agreement.

Annual Shift Count Arrangements

- 13.21 Subject to the following subclauses the Company may implement annual shift count rosters for employees.
- 13.22 An employee working under an annual shift count arrangement will be required to work in each 12-month period:
 - a. 1976 ordinary hours and a nominated number of additional hours;
 - b. over a nominated number of shifts.
- 13.23 The Company will nominate the number of shifts and the number of additional hours prior to the start of each 12-month period.
- 13.24 Unless subclause 13.25 applies, each 12-month period will run from July 1 to June 30.
- 13.25 If an employee commences working an annual shift count arrangement after 1 July of a particular year:
 - a. references to "12-month period" in subclauses 13.21 to 13.39 of this Agreement will be taken to refer to the period between the date the employee commenced working the annual shift count arrangement and the next 30 June, and the applicable nominated number of shifts and nominated number of additional hours will apply on a pro-rata basis.
 - b. on the subsequent 1 July, subclauses 13.21 to 13.39 will apply with no further adjustment.
- 13.26 The rostered hours of work may be amended by the Company during the 12-month period. Where that occurs, the nominated number of shifts and the nominated number of additional hours to be worked in that 12-month period will remain unchanged. For example:
 - a. At 1 July an employee commenced an annual shift count arrangement comprising 1976 ordinary hours and 220 additional hours to be worked over 208 shifts in the 12 month period to June 30.
 - b. 6 months later the Company changes the employee's hours of work from an '8 days on, 6 days off' roster pattern to a '10 days on, 4 days off' roster pattern.
 - c. Notwithstanding the changed roster pattern, the employee is still required to work 1976 ordinary hours and 220 additional hours over 208 shifts.
- 13.27 Employees working under an annual shift count arrangement will be paid a total annual base salary.
- 13.28 By agreement between the employee and the Company, an employee may work shifts in excess of the applicable nominated number of shifts in each 12-month period. The Company will not unreasonably withhold additional shifts from an employee.
- 13.29 Employees will be rostered a 12-hour break between shifts, however a minimum break of 10-hours between successive shifts may be rostered with a maximum of two 10-hour breaks in each block.
- 13.30 Employees may be required to work reasonable additional hours in excess of the nominated number of additional hours in a 12-month period. The Company will not unreasonably withhold additional hours from an employee.
- 13.31 Rostered shift lengths will be a minimum of 6 hours to a maximum of 12-hours. Employees may be required to work beyond 12 hours by agreement.
- 13.32 Employees who work between 12 and 13-hour shifts will receive 14 hours towards their shift count hours.
- 13.33 Employees who work between 13 and 14-hour shifts will receive 16 hours towards their shift count hours.
- 13.34 Breaks between shifts in excess of 15-hours whilst working away from your home location in Aurizon provided accommodation will attract hours towards an employees nominated annual hours as below:
 - a. Employees who work a 208 shift count will receive 9.5 hours towards their nominated annual hours.
 - b. Employees who work 234 shift count will receive 8.44 hours towards their nominated annual hours.
- 13.35 Every shift worked or taken as paid leave will count towards the nominated number of shifts.
- 13.36 Shifts taken as Leave Without Pay will not count towards the nominated number of shifts.
- 13.37 Unless an employee agrees otherwise, the maximum number of consecutive shifts an employee will be required to work without an RDO is 12.

- 13.38 Employees will be notified prior to the end of their current roster block of changes to their next roster block. For example, if the Company intends to change an employee's roster from an '8 days on, 6 days off' roster pattern to a '10 days on, 4 days off' roster pattern, the employee must be notified prior to the end of the eighth day of work.
- 13.39 Where the Company wishes to change a roster block currently being worked, at least 66% of affected employees must agree to the change prior to implementation.

Payments for Annual Shift Count Arrangements Excluding Trackside Systems Employees

- 13.40 Employees on an annual shift count arrangement will be paid a total annual base salary, which includes compensation for:
 - a. 1976 ordinary hours;
 - b. 11.5% APA and the daily migratory employee allowance;
 - c. Overtime penalties for the nominated additional hours;
 - d. Applicable weekend loadings;
 - e. Applicable shift loadings;
 - f. Payments for working public holidays;
 - g. 20% annual leave loading; and
 - h. Leading hand allowance where applicable.
- 13.41 Employees on annual shift count arrangements are not eligible for any separate payment of the entitlement set out in subclause 13.40.
- 13.42 Employees will be paid for;
 - a. shifts worked in excess of the nominated number of shifts for the 12-month period; or
 - b. hours worked in excess of the nominated number of additional hours for the 12-month period;
 - the employee will be entitled to receive a lump sum payment for all additional hours worked in that 12-month period paid at the annual base salary hourly rate. This additional payment will be paid to the employee in July immediately following the 12-month period.

Nominated Additional Hours and Shift Count – Mechanised Production Employees

- 13.43 From 1 July 2023 the number of hours and shifts will be as below:
 - a. The nominated hours are 2196 (220 additional hours); and
 - b. The nominated number of shifts is 208 shifts; in each 12-month period.
- 13.44 The Company will nominate the number of additional hours prior to the start of each 12-month period.
- 13.45 At the commencement of the Agreement the Company will set up a consultative committee consisting of nominated Company representatives, employee representatives and union representatives. Consultive meetings to be held quarterly to discuss utilisation of hours and rostering practices.
- 13.46 Where the Company nominates a reduction in additional hours, the nominated hours will not fall below 2126 (150 additional hours) whilst the Agreement operates. The Company will consult with employees prior to the reduction of hours being implemented.
- 13.47 A reduction in additional hours will reduce the employee's total annual base salary for the applicable 12-month period. The method of the reduction will be:
 - a. The total number of additional hours to be reduced multiplied by the employee's existing annual base salary hourly rate.
 - b. The amount calculated at a) is subtracted from the current total annual base salary.
 - c. The outcome of b) forms the total annual base salary for the applicable 12-month period and for the purposes of the annual wage increase.
 - d. The new annual base salary hourly rate is the outcome of c divided by 1976.
- 13.48 For example, John Smith receives a total annual base salary of \$118 560.00 and is paid an annual hourly rate of \$60 per hour. The Company decides to reduce the nominated hours to 2146 from 1 July 2024. The method reduction will be;
 - a. 50 hours by \$60.00 = \$3000.00
 - b. \$118 560.00 \$3 000.00 = \$115 560.00
 - c. Total annual base salary \$115 560 4% annual wage increase is applied to \$115 560.00
 - d. Total annual hourly rate is \$115 560.00 / 1976 = \$58.48

Nominated Additional Hours and Shift Count – Civil Production Employees

- 13.49 The nominated hours are 2204 (228 additional hours); and
- 13.50 The nominated number of shifts will be 234 shifts; in each 12-month period.

Trackside Systems Employees

- 13.51 Effective from the first full pay after the Agreement commences to operate, Trackside Systems Employees who are employed under an IFA will transition to the applicable shift count roster pattern for their Depot.
- 13.52 Existing employees who are currently remunerated under an IFA will be salary maintained where their applicable shift count roster total base annual salary is less than their IFA total fixed remuneration (TFR) excluding superannuation. The method for salary maintenance will be;
 - a. Total annual base salary will be in line with subclause 13.53.
 - b. Upon commencement employees who are identified to be salary maintained will receive a one-off payment of the difference between their IFA total fixed remuneration excluding superannuation and their total annual base salary in line with subclause 13.53.
 - c. Employees will still receive separate payments as outlined in subclause 13.55 and 13.56.
- 13.53 From 1 July 2023 the nominated additional hours and nominated shifts are stipulated in the table below. If the Agreement commences after 1 July 2023 subclause 13.25 will apply with regards to the shift count and additional hours.

Roster Pattern	Shifts	Total Nominated Hours	Nominally
8 on 6 off block	208	2076 (100	Wayside Systems (Electricians & Maintainers)
working		additional hours)	Traction Systems (Linepersons & Electricians)
8 on 6 off block	208	2051 (75	Control Systems (Technicians & Cablers)
working	200	additional hours)	Control Cystems (Technicians & Cablers)
8 Day Fortnight	ortnight 208	2196 (220	Wayside Systems (Electricians & Maintainers)
o bay i orangin		additional hours)	Wayside Gysteriis (Electricians & Maintainers)
8 Day Fortnight	208	2051 (75	Control Systems (Technicians & Cablers)
o Day Fortingin	200	additional hours)	Mechanical Systems Fitters
8 Day Fortnight	208	2126 (150	Wayside Systems (Electricians & Maintainers)
with Nightshift		additional hours)	

Annual Shift Count Arrangements – Trackside Systems Employees

- 13.54 Split Shifts.
 - a. A minimum 10-hour break between successive shifts do not apply to rostered split shifts.
 - b. A split shift is a minimum 6-hour shift of ordinary hours covering a span of 16-hours. That is, two shifts of minimum 3-hours with a break (without pay) of up to 8-hours between the shifts. Example start shift 1 at 0600 and finish at 1000. Start shift 2 at 1800 and finish at 2200
- 13.55 Employees recalled to work additional hours including call outs, will have those hours counted towards the total annual hours worked.
- 13.56 Employees recalled to work where:
 - a. A 10-hour break has not elapsed from the previous shift will have the recalled hours counted as part of the previous shift.
 - b. A 10-hour break has elapsed from the previous shift:
 - i. If the hours worked exceed 6-hours the work will be counted as a shift and the hours counted towards the total nominated hours worked.
 - ii. If the hours worked do not exceed 6-hours, no shift will be recorded. The hours will be counted towards the total nominated hours worked. Where the time worked is less than four hours the employee will receive four hours toward their nominated hours.
 - iii. Employees recalled to work multiple times will have their time aggregated towards the 6-hour minimum for shift.
- 13.57 Fatigue break hours will be counted towards the 6-hour minimum for a shift if the fatigue break extends past the rostered start time of a shift.
- 13.58 All additional and recalled to work shifts will comply with Aurizon's Fatigue Management Policy. Aurizon's Fatigue Management Policy, as amended from time to time, applies to

employees covered by this Agreement.

Payments for Annual Shift Count Arrangements – Trackside Systems Employees

- 13.59 Trackside systems Employees on an annual shift count arrangement will be paid a total annual base salary. Which includes compensation for:
 - a. 1976 ordinary hours;
 - b. 11.5 % APA and the daily migratory employee allowance;
 - c. Overtime penalties for the nominated additional hours;
 - d. Applicable weekend loadings;
 - e. Applicable shift loadings;
 - f. Payments for working public holidays;
 - g. 17.5% annual leave loading;
 - h. Ancillary roles, duties, and competencies necessary for the performance of their substantive role; and
 - i. A rolled-up flexibility payment consisting of:
 - i. Allowance for starting a Shift Later.
 - ii. Penalty Payment for Starting a Shift earlier.
 - iii. Paid Meal Break on overtime.
 - iv. Overtime Meal Allowance.
 - v. Working Split Shifts.
- 13.60 Employees on annual shift count arrangements are not eligible for any separate payment of the entitlements set out in subclause 13.59.
- 13.61 Additional hours worked outside ordinary rostered hours on a public holiday will receive 1.5 hours towards their nominated hours for each hour worked. Where employees are recalled to work, and work less than four hours, the difference between hours worked, and four hours will contribute to the nominated hours and will not attract the 1.5 additional hours rate.
- 13.62 Employees will receive a separate payment for;
 - a. All entitlements not set out in subclause 13.59 for example;
 - i. On call allowance:
 - ii. Electrical Licensing allowance where applicable;
- 13.63 Employees will be paid for;
 - a. Shifts worked in excess of the nominated number of shifts for the 12-month period; or
 - b. Hours worked in excess of the nominated number of additional hours for the 12-month period;

The employee will be entitled to receive a lump sum payment for all additional hours worked in that 12-month period paid at the annual base salary hourly rate. This additional payment will be paid to the employee in July as a lump sum immediately following the 12-month period.

14.0 OTHER HOURS OF WORK RELATED MATTERS

Start and finish locations

- 14.1 Employees will start and finish work at a location specified by the Company.
- 14.2 Where the direction to start and/or finish work at a location increases the time ordinarily taken by the employee to travel to and from home such increased travel time must be reasonable.
- 14.3 An employee required by the Company to travel long distances to perform their duties will, for the time spent travelling, be paid as follows:
 - a. during rostered hours without loss of ordinary hours pay; or
 - b. outside of rostered hours up to 8 hours pay at the applicable rate;

Start a shift later

14.4 When an employee is notified of a later start time to their rostered start time the employee will be paid an allowance in accordance with the following table:

Number of hours between the time the employee receives the later start time notice and original rostered start time of the shift	Allowance paid (at the rate of pay applicable for that day)
24 or more hours	No allowance
2 or more hours but less than 24 hours	1 ordinary hour's pay
Less than 2 hours' notice	2 ordinary hours' pay

Starting a shift earlier

- 14.5 When an employee is notified of an earlier start time of their rostered shift, and the notice is given:
 - a. after the completion of the employee's previous shift, and
 - b. within 24-hours of the required earlier start time, the following penalty payments will apply:
- 14.6 All time worked outside of the previously rostered hours will attract overtime penalties in accordance with the overtime clause.
- 14.7 Any time worked in excess of the original shift length will attract overtime penalties in accordance with the overtime clause.

15.0 BREAKS

Meal breaks

- 15.1 Employees will be entitled to an unpaid meal break of 30-minutes each shift. Where the meal break is taken between 2300 and 0600 hours it will be paid.
- 15.2 If an employee has not commenced a meal break after 5.5 hours of work on an ordinary shift, the employee will, in addition to other payments to which the employee is entitled, be paid an additional 100% of the base rate of pay until the commencement of the meal break.
- 15.3 The above subclause does not apply in the following circumstances:
 - a. employees who, as a result of their work are required to maintain continuity of work,
 - b. the 30-minute meal break is paid; or
 - c. the Company and the majority of affected employees agree that the unpaid meal break will be taken after 5.5 hours of work.
- 15.4 Where operational requirements are such, and the Company and an employee not otherwise entitled to a paid meal break agree, the rostered ordinary hours may include a paid meal break of 30-minutes duration. Where such agreement is reached, the penalty payment for not having commenced the break after 5.5 hours of work will not apply.

Paid meal break on overtime

- 15.5 Where four or more hours are worked after the employee's rostered finishing time, an employee will be entitled to a paid meal break of 20-minutes. Where the Company and the employee agree that the paid meal break will not be taken the employee will be paid an additional 40 minutes at the base rate of pay.
- Where six or more hours are worked, and the time is not continuous with an ordinary hours shift an employee will be entitled to a paid meal break of 20-minutes. Where the company and the employee agree that the paid meal break will not be taken the employee will be paid an additional 40-minutes at the base rate of pay.

Rest Breaks

15.7 Employees are entitled to a paid 20-minute rest break each ordinary hours shift. Provided there is no adverse impact on the continuity of work an employee may elect to take two paid 10-minute rest breaks, provided that employees working a 12-hour shift will receive an additional 10-minute rest break.

PART 5 – OVERTIME AND PENALTY RATES

16.0 OVERTIME

16.1 Overtime is time worked outside an employee's ordinary hours.

Overtime – general

- 16.2 Overtime will only be paid when it has been expressly authorised in advance of the work being commenced.
- 16.3 When directed, an employee will work reasonable overtime. An employee may refuse to work overtime hours if they are unreasonable.

Overtime – payment

- 16.4 All overtime is calculated on the employee's base rate of pay plus any applicable all-purpose allowances and higher-grade allowance.
- 16.5 Subject to this clause, each time overtime is worked it will be paid at 150% for the first three hours and 200% thereafter except for:
 - a. Overtime worked on a Saturday after the completion of a rostered ordinary hours shift which will be paid at 200%.
 - b. Overtime worked on a Sunday will be paid at 200%.
- 16.6 Shift workers will be paid overtime at 200%.
- 16.7 Trackside Systems employees will be paid overtime for all work performed between 1800 and 0600 Monday to Friday.

Employee recalled to work overtime

- 16.8 If recalled to work overtime after leaving the Company's premises an employee will be paid for the time actually worked at overtime rates. Where the time worked is less than 4 hours the employee will be paid ordinary time for the period between the time worked and 4 hours.
- 16.9 If recalled to work overtime remotely after leaving the Company's premises an employee will be paid for the time actually worked at overtime rates. Where the time worked is less than two hours the employee will be paid ordinary time for the period between the time worked and two hours.
- 16.10 Payment if recalled to work overtime will begin from the time the employee receives the call as long as the employee attends in a timely manner taking into account their location at the time of the call.
- 16.11 Where employees are recalled to perform duties remotely, more than once in any 6 hour period, each occasion will be aggregated towards the 2 hour minimum.

Cancellation of overtime

- 16.12 Where an employee has been directed to work a stand-alone overtime shift and such direction is cancelled with less than 12 hours' notice from the intended start time of the overtime shift, the employee will be paid an allowance equal to one hour of the base rate of pay applicable to the day.
- 16.13 Where the overtime shift is cancelled with less than two hours' notice from the intended start time of the overtime shift, the employee will be paid an allowance equal to 2 hours of the base rate of pay applicable to the day.

Time off in lieu of overtime payment

- 16.14 An employee and the Company may agree for the employee to take time off in lieu of being paid for authorised overtime worked (toil). Hours of overtime worked but which the employee is yet to take as time off constitute the employee's "toil balance". An employee's toil balance must not exceed 12 hours.
- 16.15 The employee and the Company must agree on the time when the toil is to be taken.
- 16.16 The employee will be allowed one rostered hour off (without loss of pay) for each hour of toil taken.
- 16.17 An employee may decide to "reconvert" toil into paid overtime. "Reconverted" toil hours will be paid at overtime rates.

17.0 SHIFT LOADING

- 17.1 An employee will be paid a shift loading of 20% for any ordinary hours worked between 1800 hours and 0600 hours.
- 17.2 Employees working on a Saturday, Sunday or working overtime during the above hours will not be paid a shift loading.

18.0 PAYMENT OF WAGES

Wages to be paid fortnightly

18.1 Wages and other monetary payments required under this Agreement will be paid to employees fortnightly.

Pay averaging

18.2 The Company may implement pay averaging for a full-time employee to be paid for 76 ordinary hours each pay fortnight irrespective of the ordinary hours worked in the pay fortnight. This payment averages an employee's wages to avoid the peaks and troughs that may occur under some rosters should the employee only be paid the ordinary hours worked each pay fortnight.

No pay for hours not worked

18.3 Nothing in this clause obligates the Company to pay for rostered hours not worked by an employee in circumstances where payment for such absence is not otherwise required at law

PART 6 – LEAVE AND PUBLIC HOLIDAYS

19.0 ANNUAL LEAVE

Accrual of annual leave

- 19.1 A shift worker will accrue 5 weeks of annual leave per year.
- 19.2 All other employees will accrue 4 weeks of annual leave per year.
- 19.3 Annual leave accrues progressively during a year and accumulates from year to year.
- 19.4 Casual employees do not accrue annual leave.
- 19.5 Employees do not accrue annual leave during periods of unpaid absence unless the Act provides otherwise.

Taking annual leave

- 19.6 Annual leave is "taken" where an employee does not work the ordinary hours for which the employee was rostered because of the approved annual leave.
- 19.7 A period of annual leave commences at the start time of the first shift missed due to the taking of the annual leave and ends at the start time of the first shift worked following the annual leave.
- 19.8 Employees must obtain approval before taking a period of annual leave. Approval will be subject to business and operational needs of the Company; however, approval will not be unreasonably withheld.
- 19.9 Subject to agreement between the Company and the employee annual leave may be taken in advance.

Direction to take annual leave

- 19.10 Where an employee has more than 24 months' accrual of annual leave and agreement cannot be reached through discussions with the employee the Company may direct the employee to take annual leave.
- 19.11 Where such a direction is made the employee will be given at least 28 days' notice of the commencement of the annual leave.

- 19.12 An employee and the Company may agree to a shorter notice period.
- 19.13 The Company cannot direct an employee to take annual leave where that direction would result in the employee's annual leave accruals balance falling below one year's accrual for that employee.

Payment of annual leave

- 19.14 For each ordinary hour of annual leave taken, employees will be paid at the employee's base rate of pay.
- 19.15 Each ordinary hour of annual leave taken will be deducted from an employee's accrual.
- 19.16 Employees will receive an annual leave loading of 17.5% of the base rate of pay. Employees entitled to 5 weeks of annual leave per year will receive an annual leave loading of 20% of the base rate of pay.
- 19.17 If the period during which an employee takes paid annual leave includes a day or part-day that is a public holiday in the place where the employee is based for work purposes, the employee is taken not to be on paid annual leave on that public holiday. Payment, if any, for such days will be in accordance with the Public Holidays clause.

Cashing out annual leave

- 19.18 An employee with 12 or more months' service may with the agreement of the Company cash out a portion of their accrued annual leave.
- 19.19 Each agreement to cash out annual leave must be in writing.
- 19.20 After cashing out annual leave the employee must have an annual leave accruals balance of no less than one year's accrual for that employee.
- 19.21 The employee will be paid cashed out annual leave on the same basis as had the annual leave been taken in the usual way.

Illness while on annual leave

- 19.22 Employees, who become ill during a period of annual leave, may claim personal leave in lieu of annual leave subject to the following conditions:
 - a. the employee's supervisor is promptly notified of the circumstances during the period of illness and the approximate duration of the illness; and
 - b. evidence of the illness is supplied, consistent with the evidence requirements of the personal / carer's leave clause.
- 19.23 If personal leave in lieu of annual leave is approved the hours of annual leave will be recredited to the employee's annual leave accruals and the equivalent number of hours will be deducted from the employee's personal / carer's leave accruals. Deductions from the employee's wages will be made to recover the relevant amount of leave loading (where applicable).

20.0 LONG SERVICE LEAVE

Accrual of long service leave

- 20.1 Employees accrue 345.8 hours of long service leave on completion of seven years' continuous service.
- 20.2 For any continuous service beyond seven years, employees will accrue long service leave at the rate of 49.4 hours per year.
- 20.3 Employees will not accrue long service leave during any period of unpaid absence.
- 20.4 For casual employees service remains continuous provided the casual employee is reengaged on a casual or other (e.g., temporary or permanent) basis within three calendar months of the date of the termination of employment.
- 20.5 The entitlement to long service leave for casual employees is determined by the following:
 - a. Upon seven years' continuous service, the employee's total aggregated hours divided by 13832 (i.e., 7 years x 52 weeks per year x the number of ordinary hours per week) multiplied by 345.8 (i.e., full-time hours of long service leave);
 - b. After seven years' service, the rate of the employee's annual total aggregated hours in the preceding 12 months divided by 1976 hours multiplied by 49.4 hours.
 - c. A casual employee may only access their accrued long service upon seven years of continuous service.

Taking long service leave

- 20.6 Long service leave is "taken" where an employee does not work the ordinary hours for which the employee was rostered because of the approved long service leave.
- 20.7 A period of long service leave commences at the start time of the first shift missed due to the taking of the long service leave and will end at the start time of the first shift worked following the long service leave.
- 20.8 Employees must obtain approval before taking a period of long service leave. Approval will be subject to the business and operational needs of the Company; however, approval will not be unreasonably withheld.
- 20.9 Where it is reasonable to do so the Company may direct an employee to take long service leave provided that the employee is given at least three months' notice of the commencement of the long service leave; and
 - a. the employee has not been refused a requested period of long service leave greater than one week in the previous 12 months; or
 - b. the employee has not provided notice of intention to retire or resign as at any time in the following 12 months; and
 - c. the direction to take leave would not result in the employee having a long service leave balance below 170 hours.

Payment of long service leave

- 20.10 Employees will be paid for each ordinary hour of long service leave at the base rate of pay.
- 20.11 Each ordinary hour of long service leave taken will be deducted from an employee's accrual.
- 20.12 Where a public holiday falls within a period of long service leave, the day will be paid as a public holiday and not as long service leave.

Illness while on long service leave

- 20.13 Employees on long service leave who become ill during the period of long service leave, may claim personal / carer's leave instead of long service leave subject to the following conditions:
 - a. The employee's supervisor is promptly notified of the circumstances during the period of illness and the approximate duration
 - b. The period of illness exceeds five working days:
 - c. Evidence of illness is supplied
- 20.14 If personal / carer's leave in lieu of long service leave is approved by the delegated manager, the employee's long service leave balance will be adjusted accordingly.

Cashing out long service leave

- 20.15 Employees with seven or more years of service may apply to cash out a portion of their accrued long service leave under the following conditions:
 - a. the application will be in writing.
 - b. employees must have at least 170 hours of long service leave remaining after they have cashed out a portion of their long service leave.

21.0 SHUTDOWN

- 21.1 The Company may shut down all or any part of its operation provided it gives employees at least 28 days' notice of the shutdown or such shorter period of notice as agreed between the Company and the employees affected.
- 21.2 Employees directly affected by the shutdown who have an entitlement to annual leave or long service leave may take all or part of that entitlement during the shutdown period.
- 21.3 Full-time, part-time and temporary employees who are directly affected by the shutdown and who have not accrued sufficient paid leave may, during the shutdown period, take annual leave in advance.

- 21.4 The Company is not obligated to pay wages to affected employees who elect not to take annual leave or long service leave during the shutdown up to a maximum of 76 ordinary hours in any calendar year. For ECOs, FCCs and Trackside Systems employees who are not migratory employees, the maximum period of the shutdown is 38 ordinary hours in any calendar year.
- 21.5 This shutdown clause is not a stand down clause as described in the Act.

22.0 PUBLIC HOLIDAY

Applicable public holidays

- 22.1 The following public holidays will apply:
 - a. New Year's Day
 - b. Australia Day
 - c. Good Friday
 - d. Easter Saturday
 - e. Easter Sunday
 - f. Easter Monday
 - g. Anzac Day
 - h. Labour Day
 - i. King's Birthday
 - j. Christmas Day
 - k. Boxing Day
 - I. Show holidays or district equivalent
 - m. Any such day appointed under the Holidays Act (QLD) 1983 to be observed in addition to or in lieu of any such holiday (i.e., a gazetted public holiday).

Substituting public holidays

22.2 The Company and a majority of affected employees may agree that a public holiday will be observed on a day other than the day specified in the sub clause above. For the relevant employees this clause will not apply to the public holiday but will apply to the substitute day.

Payment for public holidays

- 22.3 An employee rostered to work and who is not required to work on a public holiday will be paid at ordinary time for the rostered ordinary hours the employee would have otherwise worked on the public holiday.
- 22.4 Casual employees will only be paid for public holidays on which they work.
- 22.5 An employee who works on a public holiday will be paid:
 - a. at ordinary time for all ordinary hours rostered for the day; plus
 - b. at 150% of the base rate of pay for the hours actually worked; plus
 - c. any applicable shift loading or weekend work loading.
- 22.6 Employees who are never rostered to work ordinary hours on a particular day of the week will not be paid for any public holiday that falls on that day, for example:
 - a. employees whose ordinary hours are always rostered Monday to Friday will not receive payment for Easter Saturday;
 - b. a part-time employee who only works Tuesday to Friday will not be paid for any public holiday that falls on a Monday.
 - c. An employee who works overtime on such a day will be paid in accordance with the working overtime on a public holiday subclause.
- 22.7 Where a public holiday falls on a Saturday or Sunday but is observed on a weekday, employees who work on the Saturday or Sunday will be paid the Saturday or Sunday loading in accordance with this Agreement. Where employees work on the gazetted public holiday, the employees will be paid in accordance with this clause.
- 22.8 Where overtime is worked on a public holiday either as a whole additional shift or as additional hours worked immediately pre or post ordinary hours, payment will be at double the overtime rate that would be applicable if the day was not a public holiday.

Public holidays on rostered days off

- 22.9 Employee's will receive no additional payments when a rostered day off falls on public holiday.
- 22.10 An employee will not be required to work stand-alone overtime on an RDO unless the employee agrees.

23.0 ABORIGINAL AND TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER CULTURAL LEAVE

23.1 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander employees are entitled to 2 days paid cultural leave and 3 days of cultural leave without pay as is reasonably required to attend ceremonies related to their Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander culture.

24.0 PERSONAL / CARER'S LEAVE

Accrual of personal / carer's leave

- 24.1 Employees (except casuals) accrue personal / carer's leave at the rate of 10 days per year.
- 24.2 An employee's entitlement to paid personal / carer's leave accrues progressively during the year and accumulates from year to year.
- 24.3 Employees do not accrue personal / carer's leave during any period of unpaid absence unless the Act provides otherwise. Where an employee provides evidence (in accordance with this clause) that the absence is due to personal illness or personal injury the employee will accrue personal / carer's leave during such absence.

Taking paid personal / carer's leave

- 24.4 An employee may take paid personal / carer's leave if the leave is taken:
 - a. because the employee is not fit for work because of a personal illness, or personal injury, affecting the employee; or
 - b. to provide care or support to a member of the employee's immediate family, or a member of the employee's household, who requires care or support because of a personal illness, personal injury or unexpected emergency affecting the member.
- 24.5 Hours of personal / carer's leave taken by an employee will be deducted from the employee's accruals.
- 24.6 Unused personal / carer's leave will not be paid out upon termination of employment

Notice of absence

- 24.7 Employees who are unable to attend work due to a reason specified in this clause must notify their supervisor or other nominated person of their absence as soon as reasonably practicable (which may be at a time after the absence has started).
- 24.8 The notice must include the period or expected period of the absence.
- 24.9 The above two subclauses do not apply to an employee who could not comply with them because of circumstances beyond the employee's control.

Entitlement to unpaid carer's leave

24.10 An employee is entitled to two shifts of unpaid carer's leave for each occasion (a permissible occasion) when a member of the employee's immediate family, or a member of the employee's household, requires care or support because of personal illness, personal injury or an unexpected emergency affecting the member.

Taking unpaid carer's leave

- 24.11 An employee may take unpaid carer's leave for a particular permissible occasion if the leave is taken to provide care or support in accordance with this clause.
- 24.12 An employee may take unpaid carer's leave as:
 - a. a single continuous period that includes no more than 2 rostered shifts: or
 - b. any separate periods to which the employee and the Company agree.
- 24.13 An employee cannot take unpaid carer's leave during a particular period if the employee could instead take paid personal / carer's leave.
- 24.14 Casual employees may apply for unpaid carer's leave.

Evidence requirements

24.15 An employee must, if required by the Company, provide evidence that would satisfy a reasonable person that the absence from work is for a reason specified in this clause, for absences which exceed two working days, or any absence when the Company requests evidence.

Payment for paid personal / carer's leave

24.16 If an employee takes a period of paid personal / carer's leave for a reason specified In this clause, the Company must pay the employee at the employee's base rate of pay for the employee's ordinary hours of work in the period.

Employee taken not to be paid personal/ carer's leave on a public holiday

24.17 If the period during which an employee takes paid personal / carer's leave includes a day or part-day that is a public holiday in the place where the employee is based for work purposes, the employee is taken not to be on paid personal / carer's leave on that public holiday.

25.0 COMPASSIONATE LEAVE

- 25.1 Employees (except casuals) are entitled to 2 days' paid compassionate leave (on each occasion) to spend time with an immediate family/household member who suffers a personal illness or injury that poses a serious threat to their life.
- Where a member of the employee's immediate family or a member of the employee's household dies, the employee is entitled to three days of compassionate leave. Any leave taken for a bereavement is a separate entitlement to any compassionate leave taken prior to the death of the employee's immediate family or a member of the employee's household.

26.0 COMMUNITY SERVICE LEAVE

Jury Service

- 26.1 Any employee, other than a casual employee, who is absent from work because of jury service (including attendance for jury selection) required by or under a law of the Commonwealth, a State or a Territory will be paid their base rate of pay for the employee's ordinary hours of work in the period, provided that:
 - a. Employees are not entitled to receive overtime for any attendance at jury service which extends beyond their normal rostered hours;
 - b. An employee that has been paid by the Company whilst on jury service must pay to the Company by payroll deduction the amount of jury service pay received;
 - c. The employee notifies their supervisor or manager as soon as practicable regarding dates they are (or may be) required.

Rostering employees on jury service

- 26.2 Employees participating in jury service must be rostered to day shifts (not rostered to night shifts) for the full duration of the period required for jury service.
- 26.3 Time spent in attendance at jury service counts as normal working time for the purposes of fatigue management, including for the purpose of:
 - a. the consecutive number of days worked; and
 - b. the minimum break between their last attendance at ordinary duties and the commencement of jury service; and
 - c. the minimum break between their attendance at jury service and the resumption of their normal duties.

Return to duty

26.4 Any employee released from jury service during a period of leave under this clause is required to advise their supervisor they are no longer required. Unless impractical, an employee will be expected to return to work for their normal rostered hours in the remainder of their shift.

Voluntary emergency management activity

- An employee, other than a casual, entitled to be absent from work to engage in voluntary emergency management activity in accordance with legislation or regulation, will not lose pay for any ordinary hours of work missed while the employee engages in the activity or undertakes reasonable travel associated with the activity.
- 26.6 Reasonable rest time immediately following the activity will be unpaid or taken as another applicable leave type.
- 26.7 An employee may, at the Company's discretion, access paid leave for training for voluntary emergency management activities to a maximum of 38 ordinary hours in a calendar year.

27.0 DOMESTIC AND FAMILY VOILENCE LEAVE

- 27.1 Aurizon has a Domestic and Family Violence Corporate Principle which provides assistance and support, including up to 10 days' paid leave, to employees to assist in reducing the impact of domestic and family violence.
- 27.2 The Aurizon Domestic and Family Violence Corporate Principle, as amended from time to time, applies to employees covered by this Agreement.
- 27.3 In the event that the entitlement to leave to deal with family and domestic violence under the Aurizon Domestic and Family Violence Corporate Principle falls below the entitlement under the Rail Industry Award 2020, the Award provision will apply.

28.0 BLOOD DONOR LEAVE

28.1 Some community activities such as blood donation are endorsed by the Company.

Absences to undertake such activities will be considered as duty but must be approved in advance by the Company subject to operational requirements.

29.0 LEAVE WITHOUT PAY

29.1 The Company may, at its discretion, approve leave without pay.

30.0 MILITARY LEAVE

- 30.1 The Company will release Defence Reserve members for the purposes of rendering Defence Service in accordance with the provisions of the Defence Reserve Service (Protection) Act 2001 (Cth) as amended from time to time.
- 30.2 An employee seeking military leave must make a request which will be approved by the Company provided that the employee provides supporting documentation.
- 30.3 All paid and unpaid military leave will be counted as continuous service with the Company.
- 30.4 An employee absent from work on paid military leave will not lose pay for any ordinary hours of work occurring during absences up to a maximum payment of 152 hours in any calendar year.
- 30.5 In the event an employee's entitlement under the Defence Reserve Service (Protection) Act 2001 (Cth) is more favourable than their entitlement under this clause, the employee shall be entitled to Defence Service leave in accordance with the Defence Reserve Service (Protection) Act 2001 (Cth).

31.0 NATURAL DISASTER LEAVE

- 31.1 Where a natural disaster is declared by a State or Federal Government (or similar natural events as declared by the Company) an employee is absent from work for all or part of a shift due to one of the following circumstances:
 - a. the inability of the employee to travel to their place of work from their residence; or
 - b. the employee remaining at (or returning to) their residence to safeguard family and/or property; or
 - c. the employee remaining at (or returning to) their residence to avoid being stranded at work: or
 - d. the employee responding to the impact of the natural disaster on their property; or
 - e. any other reason approved by the Company;
 - f. may be granted up to three days of natural disaster leave per event.
- 31.2 An employee granted natural disaster leave will not lose pay for any ordinary hours missed provided that in the above:
 - a. the circumstances exists; or
 - b. it is reasonably likely that the circumstance will exist at a relevant time; or
 - c. the action by the employee was reasonable taking into account all relevant information.

32.0 PARENTAL LEAVE

General rule - notice

- 32.1 An employee is not entitled to take parental leave unless they inform the Company of their intention to take unpaid parental leave by giving at least 10 weeks written notice (unless it is not possible to do so).
- 32.2 Notice must include the intended start and end dates of any leave.
- 32.3 At least four weeks before the intended start date the employee must confirm the intended start and end dates or advise the Company of any changes to the intended start and end dates (unless it is not possible to do so).
- 32.4 Where concurrent leave is to be taken in separate periods, these notice requirements apply to the first period of that leave. For second and subsequent periods, the employee must provide the Company with four weeks' notice.
- 32.5 The Company may require evidence that would satisfy a reasonable person of the actual or expected date of birth of a child or the day or expected day of placement of a child under 16.

General rule – qualification

- 32.6 An employee is entitled to parental leave under this clause if the employee has, or will have, completed at least 12 months of continuous service with the Company immediately before the date of birth, or placement in the case of adoption.
- 32.7 Casual employees are entitled to parental leave under this clause if they meet the requirements under subclause 32.6 and if they are engaged in regular and systematic work with a reasonable expectation of ongoing employment.

General rule – additional government entitlements

32.8 The entitlement to paid parental leave types under this clause is in addition to any entitlement under any Australian Government's paid parental leave scheme.

Pre-natal/adoption leave

- 32.9 An employee with 12 months continuous service who is pregnant or adopting a child is entitled to one week of paid pre-natal/adoption leave to attend pre-natal/adoption appointments.
- 32.10 An employee with 12 months continuous service whose partner is pregnant or adopting a child is entitled to one day of paid pre-natal/adoption leave to attend pre-natal/adoption appointments.
- 32.11 Partners of employees adopting a child are entitled to an additional one day of unpaid preadoption leave to attend pre-adoption appointments.

Unpaid special maternity leave

- 32.12 An eligible pregnant employee is entitled to take unpaid special maternity leave if the employee is not fit for work because of:
 - a. a pregnancy-related illness, or
 - b. the pregnancy ends, not in the birth of a living child, within 28 weeks of the expected date of birth.
- 32.13 If the pregnancy ends, not in the birth of a living child, within 28 weeks of the expected date of birth and there was a birth, the employee is entitled to six weeks paid leave.

Taking leave due to a pregnancy related illness

- 32.14 An employee experiencing a pregnancy-related illness may access accrued leave entitlements (including personal / carer's leave, annual leave, long service leave) prior to starting parental leave.
- 32.15 Where those entitlements are exhausted, the employee may:
 - a. take unpaid personal / carer's leave; or
 - b. request to work part-time for a period; or
 - c. access unpaid special maternity leave (refer to subclause 32.12) or
 - d. apply to start parental leave early.

NB. If a female employee has an entitlement to paid personal / carer's leave, she may take that leave instead of taking unpaid special maternity leave under subclause 32.12.

Transfer to a safe job or 'paid no safe job leave'

- 32.16 An eligible pregnant employee has in specified circumstances an entitlement to be a transferred to an 'appropriate safe job'. An appropriate safe job is a job that has:
 - a. the same ordinary hours of work as the employee's present position; or
 - b. a different number of ordinary hours agreed to by the employee.
- 32.17 This entitlement applies if the employee:
 - a. is entitled to unpaid parental leave; and
 - b. has complied with the notice and evidence requirements for accessing that unpaid parental leave; and
 - c. has provided evidence (e.g., a medical certificate) that would satisfy a reasonable person that they are fit for work, but that it is inadvisable for them to continue in their present position during a period because of:
 - d. illness or risks arising out of the pregnancy; or
 - e. hazards connected with that position.
- 32.18 If these requirements are met and there is an appropriate safe job available, the employee must be transferred to that job for the risk period, with no other change to the employee's terms and conditions of employment. The Company must pay the employee at their full rate of pay for the position they were in before the transfer and for the hours they work during the risk period.
- 32.19 If there is no appropriate safe job available, the employee is entitled to take paid 'no safe job leave' for the risk period, and be paid at their base rate of pay for ordinary hours of work during the risk period.
- 32.20 If an employee is on paid 'no safe job leave' during the six week period before the expected date of birth, the Company may ask the employee to give the Company a medical certificate stating whether they are fit for work.
- 32.21 The Company may require the employee to take a period of unpaid parental leave as soon as practical if:
 - a. the employee does not give the Company a medical certificate within seven days after the request; or
 - b. within seven days after the request, the employee provides a certificate stating they are not fit for work.
- 32.22 The 'no safe job leave' ends when the period of paid or unpaid parental leave starts

Paid primary caregiver leave

- 32.23 An employee with 12 months continuous service who will give birth to, or adopt a child, is entitled to 14 calendar weeks of paid primary caregiver leave.
- 32.24 Where the leave is for a birth, such leave may commence up to six weeks before the expected birth date and must include the six weeks immediately following the birth.

- 32.25 The period of paid primary caregiver leave will be reduced by the equivalent period of any paid no safe job leave taken after the commencement of six weeks from the expected date of birth.
- 32.26 In cases where the birth parent, (or the original primary caregiver in the case of adoption), returns to work and their partner (the employee) is to be the primary caregiver for the child, the employee is entitled to access up to a maximum of seven weeks of paid leave calculated as follows:
 - a. 14 weeks paid primary caregiver leave;
 - b. minus the number of weeks of leave taken by the birth parent (which will be a minimum of six weeks);
 - c. minus the one week of partner's leave taken at the time of the birth.
- 32.27 Leave for the partner to be the primary caregiver cannot be taken at the same time that the birth parent (or the original primary caregiver in the case of adoption) is on primary caregiver leave.
- 32.28 Generally, the same rules that apply to the birth parent (or the original primary caregiver in the case of adoption), taking this leave will apply to the partner who is to be the primary caregiver.

Concurrent leave for partners

- 32.29 An employee whose partner gives birth to, or adopts a child is entitled to one week of paid partner's leave and seven weeks of unpaid partners leave.
- 32.30 This leave must be taken concurrently with the primary caregiver's leave and be in blocks of at least one week unless otherwise agreed.

Payment for parental leave

- 32.31 Where this clause provides for paid parental leave, such leave will be paid at the employee's base rate of pay for the employee's substantive position. To avoid doubt superannuation contributions will continue during periods of such paid parental leave.
- 32.32 Where an employee is entitled to paid parental leave pursuant to the Australian Government Paid Parental Leave Scheme, the Company will, for each week of such paid leave, and in addition to the requirements of the scheme, make superannuation contributions based on the amount required to be paid to the employee pursuant to the Scheme.
- 32.33 Employees accrue annual leave, long service leave and personal / carer's leave during paid parental leave.
- Part-time and eligible casual employees will be entitled to the same number of weeks of parental leave as full-time employees. However, part-time and casual employees will be paid these weeks of paid parental leave on a pro-rata basis.

52 weeks of leave & unpaid primary caregivers leave

- 32.35 Employees who are the primary caregiver are entitled to take leave for up to 52 weeks.
- 32.36 This includes any paid parental, annual and long service leave that is taken in respect of the birth or adoption of the child.
- 32.37 The balance of the 52 weeks is unpaid primary caregiver's leave.
- 32.38 In cases where the birth parent (or the original primary caregiver in the case of adoption), returns to work and their partner (the employee) is to be the primary caregiver, the partner is entitled to the take the balance of the unused unpaid primary caregiver leave.
- 32.39 The same rules that apply to the birth parent (or the original primary caregiver in the case of adoption), taking this leave will apply to the partner who is to be the primary caregiver.
- 32.40 Employees who are the primary caregiver may apply to take leave for up to an additional 52 weeks. The granting of this request will be subject to business and operational requirements. Such leave may not extend beyond the second birthday of the child (or where relevant, the second anniversary of the adoption) or a maximum of 104 weeks.

Varying the period of primary caregiver leave

32.41 The subclauses below apply after an employee has ceased taking paid primary caregiver leave.

- 32.42 An employee may extend the period of unpaid primary caregiver leave once by giving the Company 14 days' written notice before the end of the period of the leave. The written notice must state the period by which the leave is extended.
- 32.43 The period of unpaid primary caregiver leave may be further extended by written agreement between the employee and the Company.
- 32.44 A period of leave may be shortened by the employee giving four weeks' notice (or a shorter period if agreed in writing between the employee and the Company). However, a period of leave must be a minimum of six weeks after a birth.

Employees who cease to have primary responsibility for care of child

- 32.45 If, for any reason, an employee who is on paid or unpaid primary caregiver leave no longer has primary responsibility for the care of the child they must give the Company at least four weeks' notice of the date they will no longer have primary responsibility for the care of the child. Any paid primary caregiver leave will stop from the date on which the employee no longer has primary responsibility for the care of the child.
- 32.46 The notice given by the employee will include:
 - a. The date upon which the employee ceased having primary responsibility for the care of the child:
 - b. The date the employee wishes to return to work; and
 - c. The type of leave (i.e., annual or long service leave the employee is entitled to), if any, the employee wishes to access between the period of ceasing to have primary responsibility for the care of the child and returning to work.
- 32.47 If the date specified by the employee is four weeks from the date of giving the notice, the employee will return on the date specified.
- 32.48 If the date specified is within four weeks of giving notice, the Company may approve the employee to return within this earlier time. The Company will make all reasonable efforts to accommodate such requests. If this approval is not given, the employee will be entitled to return four weeks after giving notice.
- 32.49 If the date specified is more than four weeks after giving notice, the Company may approve this longer period. If approval is not given, the employee will return four weeks after giving notice.

Compassionate maternity leave

- 32.50 If an employee's pregnancy ends in other than by the birth of a living child and when the child dies the employee was on maternity leave, or the child for which primary caregiver leave has been taken dies during primary caregiver leave the employee may:
 - a. access up to a maximum of 14 weeks paid primary caregiver leave; unless 14 weeks paid primary caregiver has already been taken for the pregnancy/child);
 - b. If paid primary caregiver leave has been taken with regard to the pregnancy/child, employees may apply to access personal / carer's leave; and/or
 - c. Unpaid primary caregiver leave for a period agreed between the employee and the Company of not less than six weeks;
 - d. The employee may cancel the unpaid primary caregiver leave with at least four weeks' written notice, unless otherwise agreed between the employee and the Company.
 - e. The Company may request the employee to return to work on a specified day with at least six weeks' notice.

Continuity of service

- 32.51 Paid and unpaid parental leave do not break an employee's continuity of service.
- 32.52 Paid parental leave, with the exception of the Australian Government Paid Parental Scheme, will be counted as service for the accrual of all entitlements.

Return to work guarantee

- 32.53 On ending unpaid parental leave, an employee is entitled to return to:
 - a. the employee's pre-parental leave position; or
 - b. if that position no longer exists—an available position for which the employee is qualified and suited nearest in status and pay to the pre-parental leave position.

Unpaid parental leave

32.54 Nothing in this clause is intended to affect an employee's entitlement to unpaid parental leave in the NES.

PART 7 - MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS

33.0 DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING

- 33.1 Employees must comply with the Company's Drug and Alcohol Policy and with the drug and alcohol testing programmes of other external companies if working on an external company's site.
- 33.2 The Company's alcohol and other drug testing program for employees covered by this Agreement will not use blood or urine.

34.0 PEER TO PEER MENTAL HEALTH

- 34.1 Aurizon is committed to:
 - a. Providing and maintaining a working environment for employees that is safe and without risks to health, including psychological health; and
 - b. Continuing to enhance a dedicated program of peer-to-peer mental health with workforce engagement.

35.0 EMPLOYEES TO COMPLY WITH REASONABLE DIRECTION

- 35.1 An employee will carry out such duties as are reasonably within the limits of the employee's skill, competence and training.
- 35.2 The Company may direct an employee to carry out such duties and use such tools and equipment as may be required, provided that the employee has been properly trained in the use of such tools and equipment (where relevant).
- 35.3 Any direction issued by the Company pursuant to the above subclauses will be consistent with the Company's responsibilities to provide a safe and healthy workplace.
- 35.4 An employee will participate in training provided by the Company as required to perform the role for which they are employed.
- 35.5 If given reasonable training, it is a requirement of employees to:
 - a. acquire the competency required to perform the role for which they are employed; and
 - b. utilise all competencies, once acquired, relevant to perform the functions associated with the role for which they are employed provided the Company has provided reasonable opportunity for the employee to acquire the competency prior to any performance management arising from the failure to acquire or utilise a competency.
- 35.6 Nothing in this clause prevents an employee from expressing an interest in, or participating in training, and/or work experience for the purpose of gaining skills and competencies outside the scope of their current role.
- 35.7 Approval for such participation will be determined by the Company on the basis of merit.
- 35.8 Voluntary participation in training and/or work experience for the purpose of gaining skills and competencies outside the scope of their current role will not entitle an employee to a higher grade allowance.

36.0 CREDIT FOR SERVICE

36.1 An employee who terminates employment with an Aurizon company and transfers to another Aurizon company will, to the extent permissible by law, be credited with service and leave entitlements. An Aurizon company in this clause means Aurizon Operations Ltd or any of its related bodies corporate.

37.0 UNION MATTERS

Payroll Deduction

37.1 The Company will provide for the payroll deduction of union subscriptions at no cost to unions or employees.

Union delegates

- 37.2 Union delegates and job representatives from the workplace have a role to play within a workplace. That role is not to co-manage or hinder the efficient operation of the workplace.
- 37.3 The Company shall not unreasonably hinder accredited union delegates and/or job representatives in the reasonable and responsible performance of their duties. The role of union delegates and job representatives is secondary to the job they are employed to perform.
- 37.4 Employees will be given full access to union delegates and other job representatives during working hours to discuss any employment matter provided that work requirements are not unreasonably affected.
- 37.5 Provided that service delivery and work requirements are not unduly affected, delegates and job representatives will be provided reasonable access to facilities for the purpose of undertaking representative activities. Such facilities may include telephone, computers, email, photocopiers, facsimile machines, storage facilities, meeting rooms and notice boards. The Company and delegates will take a reasonable approach to the responsible use of such facilities for information and communication purposes and the use of such facilities will not be abused.
- 37.6 The Company will approve time off without loss of pay for ordinary hours for employees who are elected (honorary) officials of unions to attend a reasonable number of union executive meetings, divisional meetings, State Council meetings and annual/bi-annual conferences of their union. These are to be based on schedules agreed to between the Company and the respective union. Such paid arrangements will not include travelling time.
- 37.7 Relevant union delegates will be advised of intended induction sessions and provided with opportunities to discuss union membership with new employees at the session.

Industrial relations education leave

- 37.8 Industrial relations education leave is paid time off to acquire knowledge and competencies in industrial relations. Such knowledge and competencies are intended to enable union delegates or job representatives to effectively participate in consultative structures, perform a representative role and further the effective operation of the grievance and dispute settlement procedures.
- 37.9 The industrial relations education leave subclause does not apply to probationary employees.
- 37.10 Upon written application, employees who are union delegates or job representatives may be granted up to 38 ordinary hours off per calendar year without loss of pay. Leave under this clause is not cumulative and each absence must be approved by the Company.
- 37.11 This leave will be granted, unless it unreasonably impacts upon service delivery, work requirements, or the effectiveness and efficiency of the work unit concerned.
- 37.12 Where an approved course extends beyond five rostered shifts, the Company, may approve the period of leave for training to be extended to cover 10 rostered shifts to cover two calendar years.
- 37.13 Upon request and subject to approval by the Company, employees may be granted time off (without loss of pay for ordinary hours) in special circumstances, to attend management committee meetings, union conferences, and ACTU Congress.

38.0 SUPERANNUATION

Superannuation contributions

38.1 The Company will make superannuation contributions on an employee's behalf into a regulated complying superannuation fund of the employee's choice as required by the *Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992*, as amended from time to time.

- Where an employee does not advise the Company of the employee's choice of fund, the superannuation contributions will be paid into Aurizon's default superannuation fund.
- 38.3 Where an employee elects to salary sacrifice superannuation contributions, such contributions will be in addition to the contributions made under subclause 38.1 above.
- 38.4 The contribution rate for employees will be one percent higher than the Superannuation Guarantee Levy to a maximum of 13%.
- 38.5 An employee who is a member of QSuper in accordance with the *Superannuation (State Public Sector) Notice 2010 will* have superannuation contributions paid as required by the *Superannuation (State Public Sector) Deed 1990*, for as long as the employee remains in the fund.

Retirement allowance

38.6 Employees with service at 1 February 1995, who retire and who have not joined either a QSuper contributory or defined benefit fund (eligible employees), will be entitled to a retirement allowance based on the employee's years of service at 1 February 1995. Retirement allowance is calculated on the employee's base rate of pay and is determined in accordance with the following table:

Years of continuous service as at 1 February 1995	Retirement Allowance
15 years	3 months' pay
20 years	4.5 months' pay
25 years	6 months' pay
30 years	7.5 month's pay
35 years	9 months' pay
40 years	10.5 months' pay
45 or more years	12 months' pay

- 38.7 Eligible employees will receive pro-rata retirement allowance for continuous service less than 15 years based on the proportion of 3 months' pay.
- 38.8 Eligible employees will receive pro-rata retirement allowance for part years of continuous service between 15 and 45 years (maximum).

39.0 RECOVERY OF OVERPAYMENT

- 39.1 There an employee has received an overpayment in error or where an employee has taken a negative annual leave balance, on termination of the employee's employment, the Company can recover from the monies due to the employee:
 - a. the full balance of any overpayment; and/or
 - b. an amount equivalent to any negative annual leave balances.
 - c. the Company will secure the specific authorisation of an employee before making a deduction under this clause to an amount payable by an employee.
- 39.2 Company may also deduct the value of up to six hours (pro rata for part-time employees) of base rate of pay from each fortnightly wage until an overpayment to an employee is recovered provided that:
 - a. The first deduction must not occur any earlier than two weeks following the issue of a written notice which includes a description of the nature and timing of the overpayment; and
 - b. Employees will be advised of a right to request alternative repayment arrangements in circumstances where employees may experience financial hardship.
- 39.3 Nothing in subclause 39.2 prevents the Company and an employee agreeing in writing to a deduction higher than six hours per fortnight.

40.0 ACCOMMODATION STANDARDS

- 40.1 The Company will provide a minimum of 3 star accommodation where possible for employees travelling for work.
- 40.2 The Company will endeavour to provide motel accommodation where possible prior to utilising other methods of accommodation.

PART 8 – ALLOWANCES

41.0 ALLOWANCES

Allowance Principles

- 41.1 Any allowance except for the Electrical Licensing Allowance and Migratory Employee Daily Allowance in this section expressed as a monetary amount (as opposed to a percentage or a multiple of hours) will be increased by:
 - a. 4% on the first anniversary of the Commencement Date;
 - b. 4% on the second anniversary of the Commencement Date; and
 - c. 4% on the third anniversary of the Commencement Date.
- 41.2 Irrespective of the above, any allowance referred to in an ATO published guideline will not exceed the applicable maximum reasonable allowance contained within the ATO guideline; and
- 41.3 Unless otherwise stated, payment of allowances will be for actual time worked to the nearest 30 minutes for which the allowance is payable.

Electrical licensing allowance (ELA) for existing employees

41.4 Employees who were employed by the Company and held an Electrical License at the Commencement Date of the 2023 Infrastructure Enterprise Agreement and who are, or are subsequently, required to hold an electrical license for the performance of their work will be eligible for the Electrical Licensing Allowance. Employees will receive a one-off payment of \$755.81, to be paid in the first full pay period of December.

Electrical licensing allowance (ELA) for new employees

41.5 Employees who commence employment with the Company after the Commencement Date of this agreement who are required to hold an electrical license for the performance of their work will not be eligible for the Electrical Licensing Allowance one-off payment.

Migratory Employee Daily Allowance

- 41.6 Subject to subclause 41.7 any migratory employee in receipt of:
 - a. An All Purpose Allowance,
 - b. And is performing work that would qualify for the travel allowance, will be paid an additional \$21.16 per day. This allowance is not an all-purpose allowance.
- 41.7 Civil Production and Trackside Systems migratory employees in receipt of:
 - a. An All Purpose Allowance,
 - b. And is performing work that would qualify for the travel allowance, will be paid an additional \$12.55 per day. This allowance is not an all-purpose allowance.

First aid allowance

41.8 Employees appointed to perform the duties of first aid officer will be paid \$2.90 per day in addition to their ordinary rates. This allowance will not be paid while employees are on leave or when employees are not at the work location where appointed to perform the duties of a first aid officer. This allowance will not be paid to employees receiving an all-purpose allowance of 11.5%.

Higher grade allowance

- 41.9 Where the Company requires an employee to act in a higher graded role for a period of up to 50% of the ordinary hours of the shift, the employee will be paid a "higher grade" allowance for each ordinary hour worked in the higher graded role.
- 41.10 Where the Company requires an employee to act in a higher graded role for a period exceeding 50% of the ordinary hours of the shift, the employee will be paid a "higher grade" allowance for all of the ordinary hours of the shift.
- 41.11 The amount of the higher-grade allowance is the difference between the employee's base rate of pay and the base rate of pay of the higher graded role.
- 41.12 The higher grade allowance will be included in the calculation of the payment of overtime, shift loadings, and weekend loadings.
- 41.13 To avoid doubt this clause does not result in the employee being reclassified to the higher

- graded role. The employee remains in their existing role and is paid an allowance for acting in the higher graded role.
- 41.14 In relation to positions classified at ET 4 and above, where an employee is acting in such positions in a higher grade capacity, the employee will be paid at the entry level pay point of that position.
- 41.15 Where the acting arrangement in an ET classified position occurs for a full week (i.e. Monday to Sunday), the employee will accrue time towards movement to the next incremental level of the higher classified position.
- 41.16 Where the Company requires an employee to act in a higher graded role for a specified period, the employee will be paid the higher grade allowance for any leave taken within that period.

Leading hand allowance

- 41.17 An employee appointed as a leading hand will be paid an allowance as follows:
 - a. When in charge of 15 or fewer employees \$0.87 per hour;
 - b. When in charge of more than 15 employees \$1.69 per hour.

Locality allowance

41.18 Amounts payable to employees under Aurizon's Locality Allowance Policy will not be reduced at any time prior to the nominal expiry date of this Agreement.

Overtime meal allowance

- 41.19 An employee will be paid an overtime meal allowance of \$17.41 where the employee has worked overtime in the following circumstances:
 - a. An employee is recalled to work after leaving the workplace (without being advised of the recall before leaving the workplace) and works more than two hours, covering a meal period specified in the table below:

	Day work	Night work
Meal 1	0700-0900	1900-2100
Meal 2	1200-1400	0000-0200
Meal 3	1700-1900	0500-0700

NB: Where day work and night work overlap (e.g. between 0500 and 0700 and between 0700 and 0900) only one overtime meal allowance will be paid.

- b. An employee works two or more hours overtime that is continuous with the end of a rostered shift:
- c. An employee, with less than two hours' notice works more than four hours overtime between 1900 and 0700 that is not continuous with a rostered shift;
- d. An employee is advised after 2200 to sign on before 0600 to work more than four hours of overtime that is not continuous with a rostered shift.

On call allowance

- 41.20 An employee who after finishing work is required to remain contactable and available at short notice to return to work will be paid an allowance of:
 - a. One hour's pay at the base rate or applicable shift count hourly rate for each period on call commencing between Monday to Friday; or
 - b. Two hours' pay at the base rate or applicable shift count hourly rate for the day for each period on call commencing on a Saturday or Sunday or a public holiday.
 - c. Two hours' pay at the base rate or applicable shift count hourly rate for that day for each period on call commencing on a RDO.
- 41.21 An employee will be paid the on call allowance whether or not the employee is recalled to work.
- 41.22 An employee paid an on call allowance may be required to work on an RDO if called out.

Tool allowance

41.23 Tradespersons required by the Company to provide any of their own tools will be paid a tool

allowance of \$31.29 per week or part therefore worked.

Construction project allowance

41.24 Employees performing construction work for which the Company has successfully tendered through a third-party tender will be paid a construction project allowance in accordance with the following table:

Total cost of Aurizon works	Per Hour
\$5.7m to \$15m	\$1.23
Greater than \$15m to \$35m	\$1.67
Greater than \$35m to \$50m	\$2.11
Greater than \$50m to \$75m	\$2.41
Greater than \$75m to \$100m	\$2.72
Greater than \$100m to \$125m	\$3.09
Greater than \$125m to \$150m	\$3.60
Greater than \$150m to \$175m	\$3.78
Greater than \$175m to \$200m	\$4.08
Greater than \$200m to \$225m	\$4.52
Greater than \$225m to \$250m	\$4.95
Greater than \$250m to \$300m	\$5.32
Greater than \$300m to \$350m	\$5.76
Greater than \$350m to \$400m	\$6.12
Greater than \$400m to \$500m	\$6.68
Greater than \$500m	\$7.43

Use of own car allowance

- 41.25 An employee who is required to use their own car for "work purposes" will be paid at a rate of 78 cents per kilometre for a car
- 41.26 The amount of this allowance may be adjusted each year following publication by the ATO of the set rate for business kilometres travelled and the revised rate will be effective from the commencement of the first full pay period on or after 1 July each year.
- 41.27 For the purposes of this subclause "work purposes" includes:
 - a. driving to a training course at a location other than the employee's usual workplace; or
 - b. driving to a conference, seminar or convention to represent the Company; or
 - c. attending an interview or meeting at a location other than the employee's usual workplace: or
 - d. any other circumstances approved by the Company.

Travel meal allowance – reduced period away from home location

41.28 An employee rostered to be away from the employee's home location for more than 18 hours and who, without 8 hours' notice (prior to sign on), is subsequently required to return to their home location within 12 hours (from sign on) will be paid a meal allowance of \$17.41.

Travel meal allowances – working away from home location

- 41.29 Employees who:
 - a. are relieving or are temporarily working away from their home location; and
 - b. who return home at the end of the shift; and
 - c. are away from their home location for the entirety of a meal period, will be paid a meal allowance of \$17.41 for such meal period away from the home location, except that where the absence is for 1 shift or less the first meal period absence will not be paid.

Travel Allowance – Non Living Away From Home Allowance (Travelling for Work)

- 41.30 Where an employee is required to travel and stay overnight away from their usual place of residence for a period that the ATO considers to be travelling for work (as opposed to living away from home) the employee shall be provided with, paid or reimbursed for accommodation, meals and incidentals as follows:
 - a. Provided with 3 star accommodation where possible; or at the discretion of the Company reimbursed for the cost of such; and
 - b. Provided with all meals, or at the discretion of the Company paid a meal allowance of:
 - i. \$20.74 for each breakfast:
 - ii. \$22.50 for each lunch;
 - iii. \$39.73 for each dinner; and
 - c. Paid an incidental allowance of \$30.50 per night.

Travel Allowance - Living Away From Home Allowance

- 41.31 Where an employee is required to travel and stay overnight away from their usual place of residence for a period that the ATO considers to be living away from home (as opposed to travelling for work) the employee shall be provided with, paid or reimbursed for accommodation, meals and incidentals as follows:
 - a. Provided with 3 star accommodation, where possible; or at the discretion of the Company reimbursed for the cost of such; and
 - b. Paid a meal allowance of \$191.31 per week, or \$27.33 per day, or \$9.11 for each meal included in a part day. This allowance is to compensate employees for additional meal expenses incurred as a result of living away from home in order to perform their duties; and
 - c. Paid a disadvantage allowance of \$72.69 for each 24-hour period or \$24.23 for each part of a day away. This allowance is paid as a separate allowance in addition to any meal allowance.

Travelling 100 kilometres or more to work

- 41.32 If an employee was in receipt of a Travel or LAFH benefit under the Aurizon Construction and Maintenance Enterprise Agreement 2015 because they were required to travel 100 kilometres or more to work from their residential address, they will continue to receive the equivalent benefit under this Agreement.
- 41.33 The above subclause will not apply:
 - a. When the employee is performing work that is within 100 kilometres of the employee's residential address; or
 - b. When the employee is performing work that is within 100 kilometres of the employee's work location; or
 - c. To travel prior to the starting time of the first shift in each period away or
 - d. If the employee subsequently changes their residential address or work location and as a result is no longer required to travel 100 kilometres or more to work from their new address.

Travel allowance not payable on periods of leave

41.34 The above travel allowances do not apply to any periods of annual, long service leave or other leave.

42.0 ALL-PURPOSE ALLOWANCE

- 42.1 Employees excluding Trackside Systems Employees classified at ET 5 and above will be paid the applicable all-purpose allowance under this clause.
- 42.2 The all-purpose allowance of 11.5% is based on the rolling up of the following allowances, all-purpose allowances and IMC allowances from the Aurizon Construction and Maintenance Enterprise Agreement 2015:
 - a. Wet weather;
 - b. Air support respiratory mask;
 - c. First aid;
 - d. Breakdowns/floods/derailments;
 - e. IMC Working at heights, IMC herbicide, IMC asbestos work, IMC acid, IMC asbestos eradication and IMC working in narrow excavations allowance/s.

ECO and FCC all-purpose allowance

42.3 ECOs and FCCs will be paid an all-purpose allowance of 17% of the base rate of pay.

43.0 MECHANISED PRODUCTION - DIESEL TRACTION AND SHUNTING PAYMENT

- 43.1 Employees who have completed Cat 3 driver training may be trained in diesel traction and shunting competencies to operate in defined sections.
- 43.2 Employees who utilise the diesel traction and shunting competencies will be paid \$5.00 per hour in addition to their annual base salary hourly rate or their applicable hourly rate for the day.
- 43.3 The payment will be for the complete shift of duty. For example, if an employee utilises the competencies for three hours of their 9 and a half hour shift, the payment will be for the entire shift.

PART 9 – CLASSIFICATION AND PROGRESSION

44.0 CLASSIFICATION AND PROGRESSION

General

- 44.1 Employees covered by this Agreement fall into two classification & progression streams;
 - a. Rail Infrastructure Worker
 - i. Classification Level RIW 1 to RIW 6
 - ii. Progression Level Cl 1.2 to Cl 5.3
 - b. Engineering Trade
 - i. Classification Level 1 to Level 6
 - ii. Progression Level ET 1.2 to ET 5.3
- 44.2 Employees at each level in this EA may be required to have the competencies for that level or levels below their level. When required, employees at each level will undertake lower level duties as well as performing tasks incidental and ancillary to their role to work at their level (e.g., Track Protection Qualifications, Nominated Person and Responsible Worker). The Company will ensure employees undertake duties within the limits of the employee's skills, competence and training.
- 44.3 Appointment to a classification level is at the discretion of the Company.
- 44.4 Progression within the classification level will be determined by the Company based on business requirements or skill acquisition as identified in the progression tables. Upon commencement of the Agreement employees who hold and utilise the relevant competencies and/or skills will transition to the relevant pay classification.
- 44.5 An employee may dispute their classification level by following the steps in the Disputes
- 44.6 The Company has the sole discretion to determine whether to use progression, open merit selection or closed merit selection for any role in the Engineering Trade and Civil Infrastructure streams.

- 44.7 Training, assessment and recognition will be provided in such a way as to align National Competencies and the Australian Qualification Framework and provide employees with a transferable qualification.
- 44.8 Employees will be required to participate in training provided by the Company as required to perform the role for which they are employed.
- 44.9 If given reasonable training relevant to performing functions associated with the role for which they are employed it is a requirement of employees to:
 - a. Acquire the competency and skills; and
 - b. Utilise these competencies and skills, once acquired.
- 44.10 The Company will provide reasonable opportunity to acquire a competency prior to any performance management arising from the failure to acquire or utilise a competency.
- 44.11 Nothing in these progression arrangements prevents an employee from expressing an interest in training for skills and competencies outside the scope of their role. Approval for such training will be determined by the Company on the basis of merit.
- 44.12 Rail Operations & Safety qualifications such as Safeworking, On Track Vehicle (OTV), High Risk licences and Machinery Operation licences may be required as part of the progression within levels.

Apprentices and Trainees

- 44.13 Apprentices and Trainees are employees who are engaged as part of an employment based training scheme with a Registered Training Contract signed by the parties to the contract as required under the Vocational Education, Training and Employment Act (VETEA) (ref VETEA s9-s10).
- 44.14 Qualifications or Statements of attainment being declared as a result of an Apprenticeship or Traineeship does not prevent the qualification or statement of attainment being attained in a way other than by completing an apprenticeship or traineeship (ref VETEA s47).
- 44.15 Apprentices and Trainees (other than school based apprentices) will be paid at ET 1.5 (for ET employees) or CI 1.4 (for RIW employees).
- 44.16 Apprentices and Trainees (other than school based apprentices) who are 21 years of age or older will be paid at 90% of ET 2.1 (for ET employees) or CI 2.1 (for RIW employees) in the final year of their apprenticeship or traineeship, or in accordance with subclause 44.15 whichever is the higher.

Adult Apprentices

44.17 Subject to subclause 44.15 and 44.16 where an employee commences an apprenticeship, provided they were employed in a position for 6 months full time or 12 months part time, the employee may be salary maintained at their base rate at the discretion of the Company.

School Based Apprentices

44.18 Arrangements for school based apprentices are as per the Rail Industry Award 2020.

Civil Infrastructure Worker (RIW) classification and progression

- 44.19 RIW classification and progression will be in accordance with table below.
- 44.20 Progression to CI 3.1 for Protection Officers (Rail Infrastructure Workers Level 3) will only occur, by appointment, dependent on the skills and competencies of the Protection Officer once PPO accreditation i.e., Protection Officer Level 4 (PO4) is obtained. Progression past CI 3.1 only occurs where a vacancy arises, and the individual is suitably qualified for a Team Leader (RIW level 4) role.
- 44.21 Progression to CI 3.1 for Rail Infrastructure Worker L3 (RIW 3) will only occur by appointment and is dependent on skills acquisition of the achievement of four (4) categories stated in subclause 44.22. RIW 3 will be required to utilise these qualifications on a regular basis. Progression past CI 3.1 will occur by appointment and where a vacancy arises for Rail Infrastructure Worker Level 4 (RIW 4).

44.22 The four categories are:

a. Mandatory Qualification (All required)

- i. Protection Officer Level 2 AQF Level 3 (Cert II Track Protection Core + Specialist Elective Units) accreditation Track Occupancy Authority special
- ii. Authorised Person
- iii. Blue Certificate High Rail Excavator or Cat 3 Driver (maintenance districts only)

b. Truck License (At least one)

- i. Licence to drive a heavy combination vehicle
- ii. Licence to drive a multi-combination vehicle
- iii. Licence to drive a heavy rigid vehicle

c. Plant and Machinery License (At least one)

- i. Conduct civil construction wheeled front end loader operations (for example Rail Handler)
- ii. Conduct Roller Operations
- iii. Licence to operate a forklift truck
- iv. Conduct civil construction excavator operations
- v. Conduct civil construction skid steer loader operations
- vi. Licenced as a Rigger / Dogger

d. Other Qualification (At least two)

- Certificate III Rail Infrastructure Group B (Read and interpret Plans, Check and repair track geometry, implement track maintenance and construction, Carry out measurements and calculations)
- ii. Points and Crossing Welder
- iii. Aurizon Specific Aluminothermic Welder
- iv. Restress qualification
- 44.23 Employees with points and crossing welder qualifications who are currently being paid CI 3.1 will see no reduction in their classification rate as a result of subclauses 44.21 and 44.23.
- 44.24 Employees who currently hold a Licence to drive medium rigid vehicle will meet the requirements of subclause 44.22b for the purposes of progression.

Civil Infrastru	cture Business	Unit - Classification and I	Progression		
Civil Opera	tions Levels		Roles		Progression
Progression level	Classification level	Rail Infrastructure Worker	Protection Officer	Other Roles	
CI 1.4	RIW 2	Trainee RIW			By Appointment
CI 1.5	RIW 2	Qualified at RIW 2 AQF Level 2	Protection Officer level 1 AQF Level 2		Progression after not more than 12 months from commencement at Cl 1.4
CI 2.1		Qualified at RIW 3 AQF Level 3	Protection Officer Level 1 AQF Level 3	Ultrasonic Tester (Level 1)	By Appointment following skills acquisition
CI 2.2					
CI 2.3	RIW 3	Qualified at RIW 3 AQF Level 3	Protection Officer Level 2 AQF Level 3 (Cert II Track Protection Core + Specialist Elective Units)		Progression after not more than 12 months from commencement at CI 2.1
CI 2.4		Qualified at RIW 3 AQF Level 3	Protection Officer Level 3 AQF Level 3 (Cert II Track Protection Core + Specialist Elective Units)	Ultrasonic Tester (AINDT Level 1 and above)	Progression after not more than 12 months from commencement at CI 2.3
Cl 3.1		RIW Level 4	Protection Officer Level 4 (PO4) (Cert II Track Protection Core + Specialist Elective Units) Team Leader (Protection Officer)	Ultrasonic Tester (AINDT Level 1 and above and RIW 3 qualifications)	By Appointment following skills acquisition Note subclause 43.21 (for PPO qualification) and subclause 43.22 (for RIW L3 qualification)
CI 3.2	RIW 4		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
CI 3.3		RIW Level 4	Team Leader (Protection Officer)		Progression after not more than 12 months from commencement at CI 3.1
CI 3.4					
CI 3.5		Qualified at RIW 4 AQF Level 4	Team Leader (Protection Officer)		Progression after not more than 12 months from commencement at Cl 3.3
CI 4.1				Systems Officer Civil	By Appointment following skills acquisition
CI 4.2	RIW 5				Progression after not more than 12 months from commencement at Cl 4.1
CI 4.3					Progression after not more than 12 months from commencement at Cl 4.2
CI 5.1				Civil Infrastructure	By Appointment following skills acquisition
CI 5.2	RIW 6			Inspector	Progression after not more than 12 months from commencement at CI 5.1
CI 5.3					Progression after not more than 12 months from commencement at Cl 5.2

Engineering Trades (ET) classification and progression

44.25 The base grade rate for a tradesperson (AQF Level 3) will be in accordance with the tables below. The base grade rate for an Advanced Trade Level tradesperson (AQF Level 4) will be accordance with the table below provided, they have successfully completed the required training or, where an employee has not successfully completed the required training, this is due to reasonable circumstances outside the employee's control.

ET Classification and Progression – Trackside Systems

- 44.26 Classification and progression will be in accordance with the table below.
- 44.27 Employees who are paid at a higher level and do not hold the relevant competencies will have up to 2 years to attain the relevant competencies. If not achieved within 2 years the employee will revert to the relevant pay classification aligned with the competencies they hold. The Company has a positive obligation to provide each employee with appropriate training to achieve their required competencies.

Engineering	Trade Stream	(ET) classification and	I progression Tra	ckside Systems				
Classification	1	Position Description		-				
Progression Level	Classification Level	Cables	Traction Linesperson	Mechanical Signalling	Fitting	Traction Substation Electrician	Signalling Electrician	Control & Communications Technicians
ET 1.4	Level 1							
ET 1.5	Level 2 AQF Level 2	Trainee Telecommunications Cabler Trade Assistant	Apprentice Traction Lines Person Trade Assistant	Trainee Maintainer	Trainee Fitter	Apprentice Electrician Trades Assistant	Apprentice Electrician Trades Assistant	Apprentice Comms Tech Trades Assistant
ET 2.1	Level 3 AQF Level 3	*ACMA Cabling Registration with required endorsements *Completion of Traineeship Cert III Telecommunications Technology or equivalent *Directs trainees as required. (By Appointment)		*Completion of Traineeship Cert III Mechanical Rail Signalling *Directs Trainees (By Appointment)				
ET 2.2		*ET2.1 + Responsible Worker *Underground Asset Location Qualification *Directs Trainees and contractors (By skill acquisition)		*ET2.1 + Responsible Worker *Directs Trainees and contractors (By skill acquisition)				

Progression Level	Classification Level	Cables	Traction Linesperson	Mechanical Signalling	Fitting	Traction Substation Electrician	Signalling Electrician	Control & Communications Technicians
ET 2.3		*Holder of QLD electrical licence as an Electrical Mechanic. *Directs Trainees and contractors OR *ET2.2 *ACMA Cabling Registration with minimum 3 endorsements *Directs Trainees and contractors (By Appointment or skill acquisition)	*Completion of Apprenticeship Cert III ESI Power Systems Rail Traction and holder of a QLD electrical licence as an Electrical Linesperson (restricted to traction) or holder of a QLD electrical licence as an Electrical licence as an Electrical licence as an Electrical licence (By Appointment)	*ET2.2 + Track Protection Qualified *Direct trainees & Contractors as required. (By skill acquisition)	*Completion of Traineeship Cert III Mechanical Rail Signalling *Direct apprentices & contractors as required. (By Appointment)	*Completion of apprenticeship Cert III Electrotechnology Electrician. *Holder of QLD electrical licence as an Electrical Mechanic. *Direct apprentices & contractors as required. (By Appointment)	*Completion of apprenticeship Cert III Systems Electrician. *Holder of QLD electrical licence as an Electrical Mechanic. *Direct apprentices & contractors as required. (By Appointment)	*Completion of apprenticeship Cert III Electronics or Cert III Telecommunications & Networks. *Direct apprentices & contractors as required. (By Appointment)
ET 2.4		* ET2.3 + Track Protection Qualified *Direct apprentices & Contractors. (By skill acquisition)	*Qualified as an NP Category "1" (Or Equivalent) *Responsible Worker *Direct apprentices & contractors as required. (By skill acquisition)		*ET2.3 + *Responsible Worker *Direct apprentices & Contractors. (By skill acquisition)	*Qualified as an NP Category "1" (Or Equivalent) as required. *Direct apprentices & contractors as required *Responsible Worker (By skill acquisition)	*ET2.3 + *Responsible worker *Direct apprentices & contractors as required (By skill acquisition)	*ET2.3 + *Responsible Worker *Direct apprentices & contractors as required (By Skill acquisition)

Progression Level	Classification Level	Cables	Traction Linesperson	Mechanical Signalling	Fitting	Traction Substation Electrician	Signalling Electrician	Control & Communications Technicians
ET 3.1	Level 4	Senior Cable Jointer *Regularly required to perform as a team leader / Leading Hand in conducting and managing worksites in the operation of fault rectification in response or call out teams or in maintenance, construction, and renewal of network asset. *Relieves in Supervisor Position *Directs Trainees and contractors *Qualified at 2.4 (By Appointment)	*ET2.4 + Track Protection Qualified OR *ET2.4 + 1 High Risk Licences / Blue Tickets (By skill acquisition)	Senior Systems Maintainer *Regularly required to perform as a team leader / Leading Hand in conducting and managing worksites in the operation of fault rectification in response or call out teams or in maintenance, construction, and renewal of network asset. *Relieves in Supervisor Position *Directs Trainees and contractors *Qualified at 2.3. (By Appointment)	*ET2.4 + Track Protection Qualified *Direct apprentices & Contractors. (By skill acquisition)	*ET2.4 + NP Category '2' (Or Equivalent) *Direct apprentices & contractors. *Enrolled in Cert IV Training Program (By skill acquisition)	*ET2.4 + Track Protection Qualified *Direct apprentices & contractors. *Enrolled in Cert IV Training Program (By skill acquisition)	*ET2.4 + Track Protection Qualified *Direct apprentices & contractors. *Enrolled in Cert IV Training Program (By skill acquisition)

Progression Level	Classification Level	Cables	Traction Linesperson	Mechanical Signalling	Fitting	Traction Substation Electrician	Signalling Electrician	Control & Communications Technicians
ET 3.2			*ET3.1 + 2 x High Risk Licences / Blue Tickets		*Completion of Traineeship Cert III Mechanical Rail Signalling or equivalent. *Direct apprentices & Contractors. *Qualified at ET3.1 (By Skill acquisition)	*Qualified in Powerlink Switching *Direct apprentices & contractors. *Qualified at ET3.1 (By skill acquisition)	*Partial completion of Cert IV in Railway Signalling (Theory) *Direct apprentices & contractors. *Qualified at ET3.1 (By skill acquisition)	

Progression Level	Classification Level	Cables	Traction Linesperson	Mechanical Signalling	Fitting	Traction Substation Electrician	Signalling Electrician	Control & Communications Technicians
ET 3.3		Cabling Inspector *Qualified at ET 2.4 (By Appointment)			Senior Fitter *Regularly required to perform as a team leader / Leading Hand in conducting and managing worksites in the operation of fault rectification in response or call out teams or in maintenance, construction, and renewal of network asset. *Relieves in Supervisor Position *Direct apprentices & Contractors. *Qualified at ET3.2 (By Appointment)		*Partial Completion of Cert IV (Practical) *Direct apprentices & Contractors. *Qualified at ET 3.2 (By skill acquisition)	
ET 3.4						*Qualified Cert IV in ESI Power Systems Substations *Qualified at ET3.2 *Direct apprentices & contractors. (By skill acquisition)	*Qualified Cert IV Electrical Rail Signalling. *Qualified at ET 3.3 *Direct apprentices & contractors. (By skill acquisition)	*Qualified Cert IV Rail Communications and Networks or equivalent *Qualified at ET3.1 *Direct apprentices & contractors. (By skill acquisition)

Progression	Classification	Cables	Traction	Mechanical	Fitting	Traction Substation	Signalling	Control &
Level	Level		Linesperson	Signalling		Electrician	Electrician	Communications
								Technicians
ET 4.1	Level 5	Cabling Officer	Senior		stems Officer	Senior	Senior Signal	Senior Control and
		*Delivers on job	Traction	*Cert IV Trainin	ng and	Traction/Substation	Electrician	Comms Technician
		training.	Linesperson	Assessment.		Electrician	*Regularly	*Regularly required to
		*Conducts on job	*Regularly	*Delivers on jol		*Regularly required to	required to	perform as
		assessment.	required to	*Conducts on j	ob	perform as	perform as	a team leader /
		*Undertake audits	perform as	assessment.		a team leader /	a team leader /	Leading Hand in
		of cabling	a team leader /	*Undertake aud	dits of	Leading Hand in	Leading Hand in	conducting and
		infrastructure.	Leading Hand	mechanical infr		conducting and	conducting and	managing worksites
		*Investigation of	in conducting	*Investigation of		managing worksites	managing	in the
		high level and	and	and recurring fa		in the	worksites in the	operation of fault
		recurring faults.	managing	*Technical Sup	port.	operation of fault	operation of fault	rectification in
		*Technical Support.	worksites in	(By Appointment)		rectification in	rectification in	response or call out
		(By Appointment)	the			response or call out	response or call	teams or in
			operation of			teams or in	out teams or in	maintenance,
			fault			maintenance,	maintenance,	construction, and
			rectification in			construction, and	construction,	renewal of network
			response or			renewal of network	and renewal of	asset.
			call out teams			asset.	network asset.	*Relieves in Higher
			or in			*Relieves in Higher	*Relieves in	Grade Position
			maintenance,			Grade Position	Higher Grade	*Qualified at 3.3
			construction,			*Qualified at 3.4	Position	(By Appointment)
			and renewal of			(By Appointment)	*Qualified at 3.4	
			network asset.				(By Appointment)	Fault Coordinator
			*Relieves in					(FCC)
			Higher Grade				Fault	(By Appointment)
			Position				Coordinator	
			*Qualified at				(FCC)	
			3.2				(By Appointment)	
	1		(By Appointment)					

Progression Level	Classification Level	Cables	Traction Linesperson	Mechanical Signalling	Fitting	Traction Substation Electrician	Signalling Electrician	Control & Communications Technicians
ET 4.2							Fault Coordinator (FCC) * 12 Months at ET4.1 (By skill acquisition)	Fault Coordinator (FCC) * 12 Months at ET4.1 (By skill acquisition)
ET 4.3						Electrical Control Operator ECO (By Appointment)	Fault Coordinator (FCC) * 12 Months at ET4.2 (By skill acquisition)	Fault Coordinator (FCC) * 12 Months at ET4.2 (By skill acquisition)
ET 5.1	Level 6		Traction Officer *Cert IV Training and Assessment. *Deliver on the job training. *Conduct on job assessment. *Undertake audits of traction network. *Investigation of high level and recurring faults. *Technical support. (By Appointment)			*Traction Officer *Cert IV Training and Assessment. *Deliver on the job training. *Conduct on job assessment. *Undertake audits of traction/ substation infrastructure. *Investigation of high level and recurring faults. *Technical support. (By Appointment)	Signalling Systems Officer *Cert IV Training and Assessment. *Deliver on the job training. *Conduct on job assessment. *Undertake audits of electrical signalling equipment. *Investigation of high level and recurring faults. *Technical support. (By Appointment)	Control & Comms. Systems Officer *Cert IV Training and Assessment. *Deliver on the job training *Conduct on job assessment. *Undertake audits of the Communications network. *Investigation of high level and recurring faults. *Technical support (By Appointment)

44.28 ET Classification and Progression – Mechanised Production

Progression within Mechanised Production will be by acquiring points from the competency pool. The Competency Pool below consists of the relevant competencies for Mechanised Production Trade Operators, Senior Trade Operators, Rail Infrastructure workers (RIW) and Leading Hands.

44.29 Employees who are paid at a higher level and do not hold the relevant competencies will have up to 2 years to attain the relevant competencies. If not achieved within 2 years, the employee will revert to the relevant pay classification aligned with the competencies they hold. The Company has a positive obligation to provide each employee with appropriate training to achieve their required competencies.

44.30 Trade Operator Progression Guidelines

Pay	Criteria	Points
Level		
ET2.1	Completion of Certificate 3 Trade Qualification.	0
	Holder of Queensland Electrical License as an	
	Electrical Mechanic (if Electrical Trade).	
ET2.2	Total of 3 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	3
ET2.3	Total of 6 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	6
ET2.4	Total of 9 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	9
ET3.1	Total of 12 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	12
ET3.2	Total of 15 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	15
ET3.3	Total of 18 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	18

44.31 Senior Trade Operator / Leading Hand Operator / Progression Guidelines

Pay Level	Criteria	Points
ET4.1	Successful appointment to Senior Trade/Leading Hand Operator / Planner Role	0
ET4.2	Total of 21 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	21
ET4.3	Total of 24 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	24
ET4.4	Total of 27 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	27

44.32 RIW Progression Guidelines

Pay	Criteria	Points
Level		
CI2.1	Entry level	0
Cl2.2	Completion of Certificate RIW Cert II (Level 3 = 6 Core + 10 Electives)	1
CI2.4	Total of 9 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	9
Cl3.1	Completion of RIW Cert III (Level 4 = 4 Core + 9 Electives)	2
Cl3.2	Total of 15 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	15
CI3.3	Total of 18 points from the Trade Operator Competency Pool	18

44.33 Leading Hand / Progression Guidelines

Pay	Criteria	Points
Level		
Cl3.5	Successful appointment to Leading Hand	0
CI4.2	Total of 21 points from the Operator Competency Pool	21
CI4.3	Total of 24 points from the Operator Competency Pool	24
CI4.4	Total of 27 points from the Operator Competency Pool	27

44.34 Competency Pool

ITEM	Post Trade Training Courses	Points
1	Nominated Nationally Accredited Post Trade Competency 30-40 hrs	1
2	Nominated Nationally Accredited Post Trade Competency 16-30 hrs	0.5
3	Nominated Non-Accredited Post Trade Competency 30-40 hrs	1
4	Nominated Non-Accredited Post Trade Competency 16-30 hrs	0.5
	Wagon Maintenance Accredited Courses	
5	Wagon Carriage Brake Course	2
6	Wagon Maintenance	2
7	Wagon Reliability Examination	2
	High Risk Work Licenses	Points
	High Risk Work Licenses continued	Points
8	High Risk Licence - LF Forklift Truck	1
9	High Risk Licence - WP Boom EWP	1
10	High Risk Licence - DG Dogging	1
11	High Risk Licence - CB Bridge Gantry Crane	1
12	High Risk Licence - CV Vehicle Load Crane	1
13	Drivers Licence HR	1
	Rail Industry Competencies	
14	PO1 Protection Officer	1
15	PO2 Protection Officer	2
16	CAT 3 Driver	4
17	Cert IV Trainer and Assessor (Short Course – Enterprise only)	1
18	Cert IV Trainer and Assessor (Full accreditation)	4
19	RIW Cert II (Level 3 = 6 Core + 10 Electives)	1
20	RIW Cert III (Level 4 = 4 Core + 9 Electives)	2
	OTV Blue Operating Tickets	Points
21	40008230 - Ballast Regulator MMB 500 - 501 / 503 - 507	3
22	40010313 - Cert Operate Plasser 2X - Dynamic MMA503 - 507	13.5
23	40008240 - Cert Operate MMA 500, 501	13.5
	OTV Orange Workstation Operating Tickets	Points
24	BCD - 40004162 - Cert Sled Ground Controller MMY33	2.5
25	BCD - 40007403 - Cert Sled Operator MMY33	2.5
26	BCD - 40010330 - Cert Spoil Wagons MFS 3-150 - MMY501 to 508	3
27	BCD FRM902 Under Cutter MMY530- B Belts	2
28	BCD FRM902 Under Cutter MMY530- Cab 2	3
29	BCD FRM902 Under Cutter MMY530 - Grounds Person	2.5
30	BCD RM902 Under Cutter MMY531 - Cab 3	3
31	BCD RM902 Under Cutter MMY531 - Clamps 2	3
32	BCD RM902 Under Cutter MMY531 - RM Grounds Person	2.5
33	Resurf - Cert Push a Long Laser	2
34	Resurf - Cert Motorised Laser	2
35	Resurf - 40004025 - Cert Groundwork for Tamper Machine	3
36	Resurf - 40008302 - Cert Track Travel MMA 500, 501	2.5
37	Resurf - 40008303 - Cert Operate MMA 500, 501	3
38	Resurf - 40008304 - Cert Input & Interpret Data MMA500-501/ 503-507	3
39	Resurf - 40010203 - Cert Operate Plasser 2X - Dynamic MMA503 - 507	3

	OTV Orange Workstation Operating Tickets	Points
40	Resurf - 40010252 - Cert Track Travel Passer 2X Dynamic MMA503 - 507	2.5
41	Work Train - 40004022 - Cert Remote Controlled Ballast Wagon	2
42	Work Train - 40004023 - Cert Remote Ballast Plough	2
43	TCC - ARTS Chute and Rail Wagon Set	2
44	TCC - ARTS Rail Manipulator	3
45	TCC - Cert TLM Sleeper Table MMY002	1
46	TCC - Cert TLM Front Liner MMY002	1
47	TCC - Cert TLM Steering MMY002	1
48	TCC - Cert TLM Rear Liner MMY002	1
49	TCC - Cert TLM Laying Frame and Plough MMY002	1
50	TCC - Cert TLM Sleeper Pickup MMY002	2
51	TCC - Cert TLM Sleeper Delivery Gantries MMY002	2
	OTV Orange Workstation Operating Tickets continued	Points
52	TCC - Cert TLM Main Console Operator and Travel MMY002	3
53	TCC - Biscuit Bin	0.5
54	Rail Handler (Aussie, End Loader Attachment)	2
55	Track Lift / Slew MMD 500/501	0.5
56	Clip Bin Machine	0.5
57	S.P (self-propelled) MMD 023 E - Clip Applicator / DE clipper	1
58	Clip Applicator/DE clipper	1
59	Dual Head Applicator Machine MMD	1
60	Clip Applicator Techniplan MMD-23	1
61	Fist Clip Remover MMH - 004	1

PART 10 - WAGES SCHEDULES

45.0 WAGE SCHEDULES

45.1 The following tables contain the fortnightly base rate of pay for each classification and the applicable all-purpose allowance payments. If requested at a work location the Company will provide wage schedules that include weekend penalties (etc) according to the roster at the work location.

45.2 Engineering Trades

Engine	ering Trades	1 July 2023 5%	1 July 2024 4%	1 July 2025 4%	1 July 2026 4%
	Fortnightly	\$4,909.21	\$5,105.58	\$5,309.80	\$5,522.20
ET 6.4	APA	\$564.56	\$587.14	\$610.63	\$635.05
	Combined	\$5,473.77	\$5,692.72	\$5,920.43	\$6,157.25
	Fortnightly	\$4,801.09	\$4,993.14	\$5,192.86	\$5,400.58
ET 6.3	APA	\$552.13	\$574.21	\$597.18	\$621.07
	Combined	\$5,353.22	\$5,567.35	\$5,790.04	\$6,021.64
	Fortnightly	\$4,694.96	\$4,882.76	\$5,078.07	\$5,281.19
ET 6.2	APA	\$539.92	\$561.52	\$583.98	\$607.34
	Combined	\$5,234.88	\$5,444.28	\$5,662.05	\$5,888.53
	Fortnightly	\$4,587.35	\$4,770.84	\$4,961.67	\$5,160.14
ET 6.1	APA	\$527.54	\$548.65	\$570.59	\$593.42
	Combined	\$5,114.89	\$5,319.49	\$5,532.26	\$5,753.56
	Fortnightly	\$4,264.49	\$4,435.07	\$4,612.47	\$4,796.97
ET 5.3	APA	\$490.42	\$510.03	\$530.43	\$551.65
	Combined	\$4,754.91	\$4,945.10	\$5,142.91	\$5,348.62
	Fortnightly	\$4,141.55	\$4,307.21	\$4,479.50	\$4,658.68
ET 5.2	APA	\$476.28	\$495.33	\$515.14	\$535.75
	Combined	\$4,617.82	\$4,802.54	\$4,994.64	\$5,194.42
	Fortnightly	\$4,017.28	\$4,177.97	\$4,345.09	\$4,518.89
ET 5.1	APA	\$461.99	\$480.47	\$499.69	\$519.67
	Combined	\$4,479.27	\$4,658.44	\$4,844.77	\$5,038.57
	Fortnightly	\$3,895.67	\$4,051.49	\$4,213.55	\$4,382.10
ET 4.4	APA	\$448.00	\$465.92	\$484.56	\$503.94
	Combined	\$4,343.67	\$4,517.42	\$4,698.11	\$4,886.04
	Fortnightly	\$3,773.39	\$3,924.32	\$4,081.29	\$4,244.54
ET 4.3	APA	\$433.94	\$451.30	\$469.35	\$488.12
	Combined	\$4,207.32	\$4,375.62	\$4,550.64	\$4,732.67
	Fortnightly	\$3,571.85	\$3,714.72	\$3,863.31	\$4,017.84
ET 4.2	APA	\$410.76	\$427.19	\$444.28	\$462.05
	Combined	\$3,982.61	\$4,141.91	\$4,307.59	\$4,479.90
	Fortnightly	\$3,398.94	\$3,534.90	\$3,676.30	\$3,823.35
ET 4.1	APA	\$390.88	\$406.51	\$422.77	\$439.69
	Combined	\$3,789.82	\$3,941.42	\$4,099.07	\$4,263.04
	Fortnightly	\$3,338.03	\$3,471.56	\$3,610.42	\$3,754.83
ET 3.4	APA	\$383.87	\$399.23	\$415.20	\$431.81
	Combined	\$3,721.91	\$3,870.78	\$4,025.62	\$4,186.64

Engineering Trades		1 July 2023 5%	1 July 2024 4%	1 July 2025 4%	1 July 2026 4%
	Fortnightly	\$3,275.65	\$3,406.68	\$3,542.95	\$3,684.66
ET 3.3	APA	\$376.70	\$391.77	\$407.44	\$423.74
İ	Combined	\$3,652.35	\$3,798.45	\$3,950.39	\$4,108.40
	Fortnightly	\$3,152.18	\$3,278.27	\$3,409.40	\$3,545.78
ET 3.2	APA	\$362.50	\$377.00	\$392.08	\$407.76
İ	Combined	\$3,514.69	\$3,655.27	\$3,801.48	\$3,953.54
	Fortnightly	\$3,027.91	\$3,149.02	\$3,274.98	\$3,405.98
ET 3.1	APA	\$348.21	\$362.14	\$376.62	\$391.69
İ	Combined	\$3,376.12	\$3,511.16	\$3,651.61	\$3,797.67
	Fortnightly	\$2,904.64	\$3,020.82	\$3,141.65	\$3,267.32
ET 2.4	APA	\$334.03	\$347.39	\$361.29	\$375.74
i	Combined	\$3,238.67	\$3,368.22	\$3,502.94	\$3,643.06
i	Fortnightly	\$2,781.37	\$2,892.62	\$3,008.33	\$3,128.66
ET 2.3	APA	\$319.86	\$332.65	\$345.96	\$359.80
<u> </u>	Combined	\$3,101.22	\$3,225.27	\$3,354.28	\$3,488.45
İ	Fortnightly	\$2,657.12	\$2,763.40	\$2,873.94	\$2,988.90
ET 2.2	APA	\$305.57	\$317.79	\$330.50	\$343.72
	Combined	\$2,962.69	\$3,081.20	\$3,204.44	\$3,332.62
İ	Fortnightly	\$2,535.96	\$2,637.40	\$2,742.89	\$2,852.61
ET 2.1	APA	\$291.64	\$303.30	\$315.43	\$328.05
i	Combined	\$2,827.60	\$2,940.70	\$3,058.33	\$3,180.66
İ	Fortnightly	\$2,487.91	\$2,587.43	\$2,690.93	\$2,798.56
ET 1.5	APA	\$286.11	\$297.55	\$309.46	\$321.83
	Combined	\$2,774.02	\$2,884.98	\$3,000.38	\$3,120.40
İ	Fortnightly	\$2,393.00	\$2,488.72	\$2,588.27	\$2,691.80
ET 1.4	APA	\$275.20	\$286.20	\$297.65	\$309.56
	Combined	\$2,668.20	\$2,774.93	\$2,885.92	\$3,001.36
İ	Fortnightly	\$2,278.92	\$2,370.08	\$2,464.88	\$2,563.48
ET 1.3	APA	\$262.08	\$272.56	\$283.46	\$294.80
<u> </u>	Combined	\$2,541.00	\$2,642.64	\$2,748.34	\$2,858.27
İ	Fortnightly	\$2,204.15	\$2,292.32	\$2,384.01	\$2,479.37
ET 1.2	APA	\$253.48	\$263.62	\$274.16	\$285.13
	Combined	\$2,457.63	\$2,555.93	\$2,658.17	\$2,764.50
1	Fortnightly	\$2,150.35	\$2,236.36	\$2,325.82	\$2,418.85
ET 1.1	APA	\$247.29	\$257.18	\$267.47	\$278.17
	Combined	\$2,397.64	\$2,493.54	\$2,593.28	\$2,697.02

45.3 Rail Infrastructure Workers

Rail Infi	rastructur	e Workers	1 July 2023 5%	1 July 2024 4%	1 July 2025 4%	1 July 2026 4%
		Fortnightly	\$4,586.52	\$4,769.98	\$4,960.78	\$5,159.21
CI 5.3		APA	\$527.45	\$548.55	\$570.49	\$593.31
		Combined	\$5,113.96	\$5,318.52	\$5,531.26	\$5,752.51
		Fortnightly	\$4,413.20	\$4,589.73	\$4,773.32	\$4,964.25
CI 5.2	RIW 6	APA	\$507.52	\$527.82	\$548.93	\$570.89
		Combined	\$4,920.72	\$5,117.55	\$5,322.25	\$5,535.14
		Fortnightly	\$4,314.39	\$4,486.96	\$4,666.44	\$4,853.10
CI 5.1		APA	\$496.15	\$516.00	\$536.64	\$558.11
		Combined	\$4,810.54	\$5,002.96	\$5,203.08	\$5,411.20
		Fortnightly	\$4,017.96	\$4,178.68	\$4,345.83	\$4,519.66
CI 4.3		APA	\$462.07	\$480.55	\$499.77	\$519.76
		Combined	\$4,480.03	\$4,659.23	\$4,845.60	\$5,039.42
		Fortnightly	\$3,772.40	\$3,923.29	\$4,080.23	\$4,243.43
CI 4.2	RIW 5	APA	\$433.83	\$451.18	\$469.23	\$487.99
		Combined	\$4,206.22	\$4,374.47	\$4,549.45	\$4,731.43
		Fortnightly	\$3,647.18	\$3,793.06	\$3,944.78	\$4,102.58
CI 4.1		APA	\$419.43	\$436.20	\$453.65	\$471.80
		Combined	\$4,066.60	\$4,229.26	\$4,398.43	\$4,574.37
		Fortnightly	\$3,522.93	\$3,663.85	\$3,810.40	\$3,962.82
CI 3.5		APA	\$405.14	\$421.34	\$438.20	\$455.72
		Combined	\$3,928.07	\$4,085.19	\$4,248.60	\$4,418.54
		Fortnightly	\$3,275.69	\$3,406.71	\$3,542.98	\$3,684.70
CI 3.3	RIW 4	APA	\$376.70	\$391.77	\$407.44	\$423.74
		Combined	\$3,652.39	\$3,798.48	\$3,950.42	\$4,108.44
		Fortnightly	\$3,027.91	\$3,149.02	\$3,274.98	\$3,405.98
CI 3.1		APA	\$348.21	\$362.14	\$376.62	\$391.69
		Combined	\$3,376.12	\$3,511.16	\$3,651.61	\$3,797.67
		Fortnightly	\$2,904.64	\$3,020.82	\$3,141.65	\$3,267.32
CI 2.4		APA	\$334.03	\$347.39	\$361.29	\$375.74
		Combined	\$3,238.67	\$3,368.22	\$3,502.94	\$3,643.06
		Fortnightly	\$2,657.13	\$2,763.42	\$2,873.95	\$2,988.91
CI 2.2	RIW 3	APA	\$305.57	\$317.79	\$330.50	\$343.72
		Combined	\$2,962.70	\$3,081.21	\$3,204.46	\$3,332.63
		Fortnightly	\$2,535.99	\$2,637.43	\$2,742.93	\$2,852.65
CI 2.1		APA	\$291.64	\$303.30	\$315.44	\$328.05
		Combined	\$2,827.63	\$2,940.74	\$3,058.37	\$3,180.70

Rail Infr	astructur	e Workers	1 July 2023 5%	1 July 2024 4%	1 July 2025 4%	1 July 2026 4%
		Fortnightly	\$2,487.92	\$2,587.44	\$2,690.94	\$2,798.57
CI 1.5		APA	\$286.11	\$297.56	\$309.46	\$321.84
		Combined	\$2,774.03	\$2,884.99	\$3,000.39	\$3,120.41
		Fortnightly	\$2,393.03	\$2,488.76	\$2,588.31	\$2,691.84
CI 1.4	RIW 2	APA	\$275.20	\$286.21	\$297.66	\$309.56
		Combined	\$2,668.23	\$2,774.96	\$2,885.96	\$3,001.40
		Fortnightly	\$2,278.95	\$2,370.11	\$2,464.91	\$2,563.51
CI 1.3		APA	\$262.08	\$272.56	\$283.47	\$294.80
		Combined	\$2,541.03	\$2,642.67	\$2,748.38	\$2,858.31
	RIW 1	Fortnightly	\$2,204.15	\$2,292.32	\$2,384.01	\$2,479.37
CI 1.2		APA	\$253.48	\$263.62	\$274.16	\$285.13
		Combined	\$2,457.63	\$2,555.93	\$2,658.17	\$2,764.50

45.4 Electrical Control Operators and Fault Coordination Controllers

ECO	and FCC	1 July 2023 5%	1 July 2024 4%	1 July 2025 4%	1 July 2026 4%
	Fortnightly	\$3,773.39	\$3,924.32	\$4,081.29	\$4,244.54
ET 4.3	APA	\$641.48	\$667.13	\$693.82	\$721.57
	Combined	\$4,414.86	\$4,591.45	\$4,775.11	\$4,966.12
	Fortnightly	\$3,571.85	\$3,714.72	\$3,863.31	\$4,017.84
ET 4.2	APA	\$607.21	\$631.50	\$656.76	\$683.03
	Combined	\$4,179.06	\$4,346.22	\$4,520.07	\$4,700.88
	Fortnightly	\$3,398.94	\$3,534.90	\$3,676.30	\$3,823.35
ET 4.1	APA	\$577.82	\$600.93	\$624.97	\$649.97
	Combined	\$3,976.77	\$4,135.84	\$4,301.27	\$4,473.32

45.5 Mechanised Production – Shift Count Arrangements

1 July 2023 5%			1 July 2024 4%			1 July 2025 4%			1 July 2026 4%			
Classification	Total Annual Wage	Fortnightly	Annual Base Salary Hourly Rate	Total Annual Wage	Fortnightly	Annual Base Salary Hourly Rate	Total Annual Wage	Fortnightly	Annual Base Salary Hourly Rate	Total Annual Wage	Fortnightly	Annual Base Salary Hourly Rate
ET 4.4	\$181,313.46	\$6,973.59	\$91.76	\$188,566.00	\$7,252.54	\$95.43	\$196,108.64	\$7,542.64	\$99.25	\$203,952.99	\$7,844.35	\$103.22
ET 4.3	\$175,782.08	\$6,760.85	\$88.96	\$182,813.36	\$7,031.28	\$92.52	\$190,125.90	\$7,312.53	\$96.22	\$197,730.93	\$7,605.04	\$100.07
ET 4.2	\$166,666.10	\$6,410.23	\$84.35	\$173,332.75	\$6,666.64	\$87.72	\$180,266.06	\$6,933.31	\$91.23	\$187,476.70	\$7,210.64	\$94.88
ET 4.1	\$164,047.26	\$6,309.51	\$83.02	\$170,609.16	\$6,561.89	\$86.34	\$177,433.52	\$6,824.37	\$89.79	\$184,530.86	\$7,097.34	\$93.39
ET 3.4	\$155,683.93	\$5,987.84	\$78.79	\$161,911.28	\$6,227.36	\$81.94	\$168,387.73	\$6,476.45	\$85.22	\$175,123.24	\$6,735.51	\$88.63
ET 3.3	\$152,862.32	\$5,879.32	\$77.36	\$158,976.81	\$6,114.49	\$80.45	\$165,335.88	\$6,359.07	\$83.67	\$171,949.32	\$6,613.44	\$87.02
ET 3.2	\$147,277.62	\$5,664.52	\$74.53	\$153,168.72	\$5,891.10	\$77.51	\$159,295.47	\$6,126.75	\$80.62	\$165,667.29	\$6,371.82	\$83.84
ET 3.1	\$141,656.16	\$5,448.31	\$71.69	\$147,322.40	\$5,666.25	\$74.56	\$153,215.30	\$5,892.90	\$77.54	\$159,343.91	\$6,128.61	\$80.64
ET 2.4	\$136,080.26	\$5,233.86	\$68.87	\$141,523.47	\$5,443.21	\$71.62	\$147,184.41	\$5,660.94	\$74.49	\$153,071.79	\$5,887.38	\$77.47
ET 2.3	\$130,504.35	\$5,019.40	\$66.04	\$135,724.52	\$5,220.17	\$68.69	\$141,153.50	\$5,428.98	\$71.43	\$146,799.65	\$5,646.14	\$74.29
ET 2.2	\$124,884.45	\$4,803.25	\$63.20	\$129,879.82	\$4,995.38	\$65.73	\$135,075.02	\$5,195.19	\$68.36	\$140,478.02	\$5,403.00	\$71.09
ET 2.1	\$119,404.30	\$4,592.47	\$60.43	\$124,180.47	\$4,776.17	\$62.84	\$129,147.69	\$4,967.22	\$65.36	\$134,313.60	\$5,165.91	\$67.97
ET 1.5	\$117,076.17	\$4,502.93	\$59.25	\$121,759.21	\$4,683.05	\$61.62	\$126,629.58	\$4,870.37	\$64.08	\$131,694.77	\$5,065.18	\$66.65
CI 4.4	\$181,313.46	\$6,973.59	\$91.76	\$188,566.00	\$7,252.54	\$95.43	\$196,108.64	\$7,542.64	\$99.25	\$203,952.99	\$7,844.35	\$103.22
CI 4.3	\$175,782.08	\$6,760.85	\$88.96	\$182,813.36	\$7,031.28	\$92.52	\$190,125.90	\$7,312.53	\$96.22	\$197,730.93	\$7,605.04	\$100.07
CI 4.2	\$166,666.10	\$6,410.23	\$84.35	\$173,332.75	\$6,666.64	\$87.72	\$180,266.06	\$6,933.31	\$91.23	\$187,476.70	\$7,210.64	\$94.88
CI 3.5	\$164,047.26	\$6,309.51	\$83.02	\$170,609.16	\$6,561.89	\$86.34	\$177,433.52	\$6,824.37	\$89.79	\$184,530.86	\$7,097.34	\$93.39
CI 3.3	\$152,863.87	\$5,879.38	\$77.36	\$158,978.43	\$6,114.55	\$80.45	\$165,337.56	\$6,359.14	\$83.67	\$171,951.07	\$6,613.50	\$ 87.02
CI 3.2	\$147,277.62	\$5,664.52	\$74.53	\$153,168.72	\$5,891.10	\$77.51	\$159,295.47	\$6,126.75	\$80.62	\$165,667.29	\$6,371.82	\$83.84
CI 3.1	\$141,656.16	\$5,448.31	\$71.69	\$147,322.40	\$5,666.25	\$74.56	\$153,215.30	\$5,892.90	\$77.54	\$159,343.91	\$6,128.61	\$80.64
CI 2.4	\$136,080.26	\$5,233.86	\$68.87	\$141,523.47	\$5,443.21	\$71.62	\$147,184.41	\$5,660.94	\$74.49	\$153,071.79	\$5,887.38	\$77.47
CI 2.2	\$124,884.97	\$4,803.27	\$63.20	\$129,880.37	\$4,995.40	\$65.73	\$135,075.58	\$5,195.21	\$68.36	\$140,478.60	\$5,403.02	\$71.09
CI 2.1	\$119,404.82	\$4,592.49	\$60.43	\$124,181.01	\$4,776.19	\$62.84	\$129,148.25	\$4,967.24	\$65.36	\$134,314.18	\$5,165.93	\$67.97
CI 1.4	\$112,878.01	\$4,341.46	\$57.12	\$117,393.13	\$4,515.12	\$59.41	\$122,088.86	\$4,695.73	\$61.79	\$126,972.41	\$4,883.55	\$64.26

45.6 Civil Production – Shift Count Arrangement

	1 July 2023 5%			1 July 2024 4%			1 July 2025 4%			1 July 2026 4%		
Classification	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate
CI 2.1	\$119,723.70	\$4,604.76	\$60.59	\$124,512.65	\$4,788.95	\$63.01	\$129,493.15	\$4,980.51	\$65.53	\$134,672.88	\$5,179.73	\$68.15
CI 2.2	\$125,189.11	\$4,814.97	\$63.35	\$130,196.67	\$5,007.56	\$65.89	\$135,404.54	\$5,207.87	\$68.52	\$140,820.72	\$5,416.18	\$71.27
CI 2.4	\$136,354.28	\$5,244.40	\$69.01	\$141,808.45	\$5,454.17	\$71.77	\$147,480.79	\$5,672.34	\$74.64	\$153,380.02	\$5,899.23	\$77.62
CI 3.1	\$142,324.27	\$5,474.01	\$72.03	\$148,017.24	\$5,692.97	\$74.91	\$153,937.93	\$5,920.69	\$77.90	\$160,095.44	\$6,157.52	\$81.02
CI 3.3	\$153,501.84	\$5,903.92	\$77.68	\$159,641.92	\$6,140.07	\$80.79	\$166,027.59	\$6,385.68	\$84.02	\$172,668.70	\$6,641.10	\$87.38
CI 3.5	\$164,655.14	\$6,332.89	\$83.33	\$171,241.35	\$6,586.21	\$86.66	\$178,091.00	\$6,849.65	\$90.13	\$185,214.64	\$7,123.64	\$93.73

45.7 Trackside Systems – Shift Count Arrangements

8 On 6 Of	ff - 208 S	hifts 2076 No	minated Tota	l Hours	(100 Addition	nal Hours)								
		1 Ju	1 July 2023 5%			1 July 2024 4%			1 July 2025 4%			1 July 2026 4%		
Classification		Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	
Officer (no APA)	ET 5.1	\$164,809.60	\$6,338.83	\$83.41	\$171,401.98	\$6,592.38	\$86.74	\$178,258.06	\$6,856.08	\$90.21	\$185,388.39	\$7,130.32	\$93.82	
	ET 4.4	\$178,199.84	\$6,853.84	\$90.18	\$185,327.83	\$7,127.99	\$93.79	\$192,740.95	\$7,413.11	\$97.54	\$200,450.58	\$7,709.64	\$101.44	
Senior	ET 4.3	\$172,606.24	\$6,638.70	\$87.35	\$179,510.49	\$6,904.25	\$90.85	\$186,690.91	\$7,180.42	\$94.48	\$194,158.55	\$7,467.64	\$98.26	
Trades	ET 4.2	\$163,387.32	\$6,284.13	\$82.69	\$169,922.81	\$6,535.49	\$85.99	\$176,719.73	\$6,796.91	\$89.43	\$183,788.51	\$7,068.79	\$93.01	
	ET 4.1	\$155,478.18	\$5,979.93	\$78.68	\$161,697.31	\$6,219.13	\$81.83	\$168,165.20	\$6,467.89	\$85.10	\$174,891.81	\$6,726.61	\$88.51	
Advanced	ET 3.4	\$152,691.95	\$5,872.77	\$77.27	\$158,799.63	\$6,107.68	\$80.36	\$165,151.61	\$6,351.99	\$83.58	\$171,757.68	\$6,606.06	\$86.92	
Trades (Cert IV	ET 3.3	\$149,838.47	\$5,763.02	\$75.83	\$155,832.01	\$5,993.54	\$78.86	\$162,065.29	\$6,233.28	\$82.02	\$168,547.90	\$6,482.61	\$85.30	
or Equiv)	ET 3.2 ET 3.1	\$144,190.60 \$138,505.74	\$5,545.79 \$5,327.14	\$72.97 \$70.09	\$149,958.22 \$144,045.97	\$5,767.62 \$5,540.23	\$75.89 \$72.90	\$155,956.55 \$149,807.81	\$5,998.33 \$5,761.84	\$78.93 \$75.81	\$162,194.82 \$155,800.12	\$6,238.26 \$5,992.31	\$82.08 \$78.85	
	L 1 3.1	φ130,303.74	ψ5,527.14	Ψ70.09	φ144,045.91	ψ5,540.25	\$72.90	φ149,007.01	ψ5,701.64	Ψ73.01	φ133,000.12	ψ5,992.51	Ψ70.03	
	ET 2.4	\$132,866.99	\$5,110.27	\$67.24	\$138,181.67	\$5,314.68	\$69.93	\$143,708.94	\$5,527.27	\$72.73	\$149,457.29	\$5,748.36	\$75.64	
Trades Person	ET 2.3	\$127,228.24	\$4,893.39	\$64.39	\$132,317.37	\$5,089.13	\$66.96	\$137,610.06	\$5,292.69	\$69.64	\$143,114.47	\$5,504.40	\$72.43	
(Cert III)	ET 2.2	\$121,544.82	\$4,674.80	\$61.51	\$126,406.61	\$4,861.79	\$63.97	\$131,462.88	\$5,056.26	\$66.53	\$136,721.39	\$5,258.52	\$69.19	
(30.1)	ET 2.1	\$116,002.62	\$4,461.64	\$58.71	\$120,642.72	\$4,640.10	\$61.05	\$125,468.43	\$4,825.71	\$63.50	\$130,487.17	\$5,018.74	\$66.04	
Trade Assistant	ET 1.5	\$113,804.75	\$4,377.11	\$57.59	\$118,356.94	\$4,552.19	\$59.90	\$123,091.22	\$4,734.28	\$62.29	\$128,014.87	\$4,923.65	\$64.78	

8 On 6 Off – 208 Shifts 2051 Nominated Total Hours (75 Additional Hours)													
Classification		1 July 2023 5%			1 July 2024 4%			1 July 2025 4%			1 July 2026 4%		
		Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate
Officer (no APA)	ET 5.1	\$162,172.65	\$6,237.41	\$82.07	\$168,659.56	\$6,486.91	\$85.35	\$175,405.94	\$6,746.38	\$88.77	\$182,422.18	\$7,016.24	\$92.32
	ET 4.4	\$175,348.65	\$6,744.18	\$88.74	\$182,362.60	\$7,013.95	\$92.29	\$189,657.10	\$7,294.50	\$95.98	\$197,243.38	\$7,586.28	\$99.82
Senior	ET 4.3	\$169,844.54	\$6,532.48	\$85.95	\$176,638.32	\$6,793.78	\$89.39	\$183,703.85	\$7,065.53	\$92.97	\$191,052.01	\$7,348.15	\$96.69
Trades	ET 4.2	\$160,773.12	\$6,183.58	\$81.36	\$167,204.04	\$6,430.92	\$84.62	\$173,892.21	\$6,688.16	\$88.00	\$180,847.89	\$6,955.69	\$91.52
	ET 4.1	\$152,990.53	\$5,884.25	\$77.42	\$159,110.15	\$6,119.62	\$80.52	\$165,474.56	\$6,364.41	\$83.74	\$172,093.54	\$6,618.98	\$87.09
	1		T		1				, ,		1	, ,	
Advanced	ET 3.4	\$150,248.88	\$5,778.80	\$76.04	\$156,258.84	\$6,009.96	\$79.08	\$162,509.19	\$6,250.35	\$82.24	\$169,009.56	\$6,500.37	\$85.53
Trades	ET 3.3	\$147,441.06	\$5,670.81	\$74.62	\$153,338.70	\$5,897.64	\$77.60	\$159,472.25	\$6,133.55	\$80.70	\$165,851.14	\$6,378.89	\$83.93
(Cert IV	ET 3.2	\$141,883.55	\$5,457.06	\$71.80	\$147,558.89	\$5,675.34	\$74.68	\$153,461.25	\$5,902.36	\$77.66	\$159,599.70	\$6,138.45	\$80.77
or Equiv)	ET 3.1	\$136,289.65	\$5,241.91	\$68.97	\$141,741.24	\$5,451.59	\$71.73	\$147,410.89	\$5,669.65	\$74.60	\$153,307.32	\$5,896.44	\$77.58
	ET 2.4	\$130,741.12	\$5,028.50	\$66.16	\$135,970.76	\$5,229.64	\$68.81	\$141,409.60	\$5,438.83	\$71.56	\$147,065.98	\$5,656.38	\$74.43
Trades	ET 2.3	\$125,192.59	\$4,815.10	\$63.36	\$130,200.29	\$5,007.70	\$65.89	\$135,408.31	\$5,208.01	\$68.53	\$140,824.64	\$5,416.33	\$71.27
Person (Cert III)	ET 2.2	\$119,600.11	\$4,600.00	\$60.53	\$124,384.11	\$4,784.00	\$62.95	\$129,359.48	\$4,975.36	\$65.47	\$134,533.86	\$5,174.38	\$68.08
(33)	ET 2.1	\$114,146.57	\$4,390.25	\$57.77	\$118,712.43	\$4,565.86	\$60.08	\$123,460.93	\$4,748.50	\$62.48	\$128,399.37	\$4,938.44	\$64.98
	•												
Trade Assistant	ET 1.5	\$111,983.88	\$4,307.07	\$56.67	\$116,463.24	\$4,479.36	\$58.94	\$121,121.76	\$4,658.53	\$61.30	\$125,966.64	\$4,844.87	\$63.75

8 Day Fortnight - 208 Shifts 2196 Nominated Total Hours (220 Additional Hours)													
Classification		1 July 2023 5%			1 July 2024 4%			1 July 2025 4%			1 July 2026 4%		
		Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate
Officer (no APA)	ET 5.1	\$153,470.70	\$5,902.72	\$77.67	\$159,609.53	\$6,138.83	\$80.77	\$165,993.91	\$6,384.38	\$84.01	\$172,633.67	\$6,639.76	\$87.37
	ET 4.4	\$165,939.70	\$6,382.30	\$83.98	\$172,577.29	\$6,637.59	\$87.34	\$179,480.38	\$6,903.09	\$90.83	\$186,659.59	\$7,179.22	\$94.46
Senior	ET 4.3	\$160,730.93	\$6,181.96	\$81.34	\$167,160.17	\$6,429.24	\$84.60	\$173,846.57	\$6,686.41	\$87.98	\$180,800.44	\$6,953.86	\$91.50
Trades	ET 4.2	\$152,146.27	\$5,851.78	\$77.00	\$158,232.12	\$6,085.85	\$80.08	\$164,561.41	\$6,329.28	\$83.28	\$171,143.86	\$6,582.46	\$86.61
	ET 4.1	\$144,781.28	\$5,568.51	\$73.27	\$150,572.53	\$5,791.25	\$76.20	\$156,595.43	\$6,022.90	\$79.25	\$162,859.25	\$6,263.82	\$82.42
Advanced	ET 3.4	\$142,186.74	\$5,468.72	\$71.96	\$147,874.21	\$5,687.47	\$74.84	\$153,789.18	\$5,914.97	\$77.83	\$159,940.75	\$6,151.57	\$80.94
Trades	ET 3.3	\$139,529.59	\$5,366.52	\$70.61	\$145,110.77	\$5,581.18	\$73.44	\$150,915.20	\$5,804.43	\$76.37	\$156,951.81	\$6,036.61	\$79.43
(Cert IV	ET 3.2	\$134,270.29	\$5,164.24	\$67.95	\$139,641.10	\$5,370.81	\$70.67	\$145,226.75	\$5,585.64	\$73.50	\$151,035.82	\$5,809.07	\$76.44
or Equiv)	ET 3.1	\$128,976.55	\$4,960.64	\$65.27	\$134,135.61	\$5,159.06	\$67.88	\$139,501.04	\$5,365.42	\$70.60	\$145,081.08	\$5,580.04	\$73.42
	ET 2.4	\$123,725.74	\$4,758.68	\$62.61	\$128,674.77	\$4,949.03	\$65.12	\$133,821.76	\$5,146.99	\$67.72	\$139,174.63	\$5,352.87	\$70.43
Trades	ET 2.3	\$118,474.94	\$4,556.73	\$59.96	\$123,213.94	\$4,739.00	\$62.36	\$128,142.50	\$4,928.56	\$64.85	\$133,268.19	\$5,125.70	\$67.44
Person (Cert III)	ET 2.2	\$113,182.54	\$4,353.17	\$57.28	\$117,709.84	\$4,527.30	\$59.57	\$122,418.24	\$4,708.39	\$61.95	\$127,314.96	\$4,896.73	\$64.43
(30.1)	ET 2.1	\$108,021.64	\$4,154.68	\$54.67	\$112,342.51	\$4,320.87	\$56.85	\$116,836.21	\$4,493.70	\$59.13	\$121,509.65	\$4,673.45	\$61.49
Trade Assistant	ET 1.5	\$105,974.99	\$4,075.96	\$53.63	\$110,213.99	\$4,239.00	\$55.78	\$114,622.55	\$4,408.56	\$58.01	\$119,207.45	\$4,584.90	\$60.33

8 Day Fortnight - 208 Shifts 2051 Nominated Total Hours (75 Additional Hours)													
Classification		1 July 2023 5%			1 July 2024 4%			1 July 2025 4%			1 July 2026 4%		
		Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate
Officer (no APA)	ET 5.1	\$138,176.37	\$5,314.48	\$69.93	\$143,703.42	\$5,527.05	\$72.72	\$149,451.56	\$5,748.14	\$75.63	\$155,429.62	\$5,978.06	\$78.66
	ET 4.4	\$149,402.75	\$5,746.26	\$75.61	\$155,378.86	\$5,976.11	\$78.63	\$161,594.01	\$6,215.15	\$81.78	\$168,057.77	\$6,463.76	\$85.05
Senior	ET 4.3	\$144,713.08	\$5,565.89	\$73.24	\$150,501.60	\$5,788.52	\$76.16	\$156,521.67	\$6,020.06	\$79.21	\$162,782.53	\$6,260.87	\$82.38
Trades	ET 4.2	\$136,983.93	\$5,268.61	\$69.32	\$142,463.29	\$5,479.36	\$72.10	\$148,161.82	\$5,698.53	\$74.98	\$154,088.29	\$5,926.47	\$77.98
	ET 4.1	\$130,352.91	\$5,013.57	\$65.97	\$135,567.03	\$5,214.12	\$68.61	\$140,989.71	\$5,422.68	\$71.35	\$146,629.30	\$5,639.59	\$74.21
		T	T				T		T	T	<u> </u>		
Advanced	ET 3.4	\$128,016.93	\$4,923.73	\$64.79	\$133,137.61	\$5,120.68	\$67.38	\$138,463.11	\$5,325.50	\$70.07	\$144,001.64	\$5,538.52	\$72.88
Trades	ET 3.3	\$125,624.58	\$4,831.71	\$63.58	\$130,649.56	\$5,024.98	\$66.12	\$135,875.55	\$5,225.98	\$68.76	\$141,310.57	\$5,435.02	\$71.51
(Cert IV	ET 3.2	\$120,889.40	\$4,649.59	\$61.18	\$125,724.98	\$4,835.58	\$63.63	\$130,753.98	\$5,029.00	\$66.17	\$135,984.13	\$5,230.16	\$68.82
or Equiv)	ET 3.1	\$116,123.21	\$4,466.28	\$58.77	\$120,768.14	\$4,644.93	\$61.12	\$125,598.86	\$4,830.73	\$63.56	\$130,622.82	\$5,023.95	\$66.10
		T	T		ı	ı	T		T	T	ı		1
Trades	ET 2.4	\$111,395.69	\$4,284.45	\$56.37	\$115,851.52	\$4,455.83	\$58.63	\$120,485.58	\$4,634.06	\$60.97	\$125,305.00	\$4,819.42	\$63.41
Trades Person	ET 2.3	\$106,668.16	\$4,102.62	\$53.98	\$110,934.89	\$4,266.73	\$56.14	\$115,372.28	\$4,437.40	\$58.39	\$119,987.17	\$4,614.89	\$60.72
(Cert III)	ET 2.2	\$101,903.18	\$3,919.35	\$51.57	\$105,979.31	\$4,076.13	\$53.63	\$110,218.48	\$4,239.17	\$55.78	\$114,627.22	\$4,408.74	\$58.01
,	ET 2.1	\$97,256.59	\$3,740.64	\$49.22	\$101,146.85	\$3,890.26	\$51.19	\$105,192.73	\$4,045.87	\$53.24	\$109,400.44	\$4,207.71	\$55.36
Trade Assistant	ET 1.5	\$95,413.90	\$3,669.77	\$48.29	\$99,230.46	\$3,816.56	\$50.22	\$103,199.67	\$3,969.22	\$52.23	\$107,327.66	\$4,127.99	\$54.32

8 Day Fortnight with Night Shift - 208 Shifts 2126 Nominated Total Hours (150 Additional Hours)													
Classification		1 July 2023 5%			1 July 2024 4%			1 July 2025 4%			1 July 2026 4%		
		Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate	Total annual wage	Fortnightly	Annual base salary hourly rate
Officer (no APA)	ET 5.1	\$156,898.74	\$6,034.57	\$79.40	\$163,174.69	\$6,275.95	\$82.58	\$169,701.68	\$6,526.99	\$85.88	\$176,489.74	\$6,788.07	\$89.32
	ET 4.4	\$169,646.25	\$6,524.86	\$85.85	\$176,432.10	\$6,785.85	\$89.29	\$183,489.38	\$7,057.28	\$92.86	\$190,828.96	\$7,339.58	\$96.57
Senior	ET 4.3	\$164,321.14	\$6,320.04	\$83.16	\$170,893.99	\$6,572.85	\$86.48	\$177,729.75	\$6,835.76	\$89.94	\$184,838.93	\$7,109.19	\$93.54
Trades	ET 4.2	\$155,544.73	\$5,982.49	\$78.72	\$161,766.52	\$6,221.79	\$81.87	\$168,237.18	\$6,470.66	\$85.14	\$174,966.67	\$6,729.49	\$88.55
	ET 4.1	\$148,015.23	\$5,692.89	\$74.91	\$153,935.84	\$5,920.61	\$77.90	\$160,093.27	\$6,157.43	\$81.02	\$166,497.00	\$6,403.73	\$84.26
Advanced	ET 3.4	\$145,362.74	\$5,590.87	\$73.56	\$151,177.25	\$5,814.51	\$76.51	\$157,224.34	\$6,047.09	\$79.57	\$163,513.31	\$6,288.97	\$82.75
Trades	ET 3.3	\$142,646.23	\$5,486.39	\$72.19	\$148,352.08	\$5,705.85	\$75.08	\$154,286.16	\$5,934.08	\$78.08	\$160,457.61	\$6,171.45	\$81.20
(Cert IV	ET 3.2	\$137,269.45	\$5,279.59	\$69.47	\$142,760.23	\$5,490.78	\$72.25	\$148,470.64	\$5,710.41	\$75.14	\$154,409.46	\$5,938.83	\$78.14
or Equiv)	ET 3.1	\$131,857.46	\$5,071.44	\$66.73	\$137,131.76	\$5,274.30	\$69.40	\$142,617.03	\$5,485.27	\$72.17	\$148,321.71	\$5,704.68	\$75.06
										T			
Tueslas	ET 2.4	\$126,489.38	\$4,864.98	\$64.01	\$131,548.96	\$5,059.58	\$66.57	\$136,810.91	\$5,261.96	\$69.24	\$142,283.35	\$5,472.44	\$72.01
Trades Person	ET 2.3	\$121,121.29	\$4,658.51	\$61.30	\$125,966.14	\$4,844.85	\$63.75	\$131,004.79	\$5,038.65	\$66.30	\$136,244.98	\$5,240.19	\$68.95
(Cert III)	ET 2.2	\$115,710.67	\$4,450.41	\$58.56	\$120,339.10	\$4,628.43	\$60.90	\$125,152.66	\$4,813.56	\$63.34	\$130,158.77	\$5,006.11	\$65.87
	ET 2.1	\$110,434.49	\$4,247.48	\$55.89	\$114,851.87	\$4,417.38	\$58.12	\$119,445.94	\$4,594.07	\$60.45	\$124,223.78	\$4,777.84	\$62.87
	1		T		I					Г	T	<u> </u>	
Trade Assistant	ET 1.5	\$108,342.12	\$4,167.00	\$54.83	\$112,675.80	\$4,333.68	\$57.02	\$117,182.84	\$4,507.03	\$59.30	\$121,870.15	\$4,687.31	\$61.68

Signed for and on behalf of Aurizon Operations Limited and Aurizon Network Pty Ltd by their duly appointed representative:

BR	Car	Signed	Date: 10/07/2023
Name:	Brian Rowan		
Position:	Business Lead		
Address:	Level 2 320 Murray Street, Rockha	impton, QLD 4700	
	on behalf of the Australian Rail, Tra anch by its duly appointed represen		Union of Employees,
1.		Signed	Date: 06/07/2023
Name: Peter A	llen		
Position: State	Secretary RTBU Queensland		
Address: Level	1, 457 Upper Edward Street, Spring	Hill, QLD 4000	
	on behalf of the Communications, E Allied Services Union by its duly app		
Name: PE	TER ONG		Date: 14/7/2023
	PEEL ST. SOUTH BRIS		401
			· - ·